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Corporate Statement
SHL TeleMedicine Ltd., based in Tel Aviv, Israel, specializes

in developing and marketing technologically advanced per-

sonal telemedicine systems, and in the provision of medical

call center services to subscribers.

Personal telemedicine is the transmission of medical data 

by individual subscribers from remote locations to a medical

call center via standard telephone networks. With the help 

of sophisticated computer systems, call center medical staff

use this data to diagnose and monitor subscribers’ health 

following proprietary guidance protocols, and to respond fast

and effectively to their needs.

SHL’s personal telemedicine systems are designed to im-

prove quality of care and lifestyle for people suffering from

various health conditions ranging from the high-risk and

chronically ill to ordinary users of healthcare products 

and services who wish to take a more active role in managing

their own health. In particular, the company’s telemedicine 

systems can be used to reduce emergency care response 

times for sufferers of potentially fatal cardiac episodes.

The company maintains international business operations:

SHL provides services in the USA through its wholly owned

subsidiary Raytel Medical Corporation, a cardiovascular

healthcare service provider, in Europe mainly through a fully

owned subsidiary, and in Israel.

SHL TeleMedicine’s 17-year track record and extensive ex-

perience have given the company a leading market position

serving a client base of more than 300,000 long-term clients

providing a reliable stream of recurring revenue.

Key Figures (December 31)

All financial units in USD 1,000 2003 2002
Employees 1,207 1,389
Sales 98,784 89,804
EBIT 3,070 11,655
EBITDA 11,418 18,061
Net profit (loss) (10,195) 1,411
Total assets 196,427 207,892
Shareholder equity 86,130 90,459
Working capital 7,420 26,690
Gross profit margin 47.0% 51.0%

Details per share
Net profit (loss) per share in USD (0.96) 0.13
Return on equity n.m. 1.6%
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Editorial
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This, the third year of SHL TeleMedicine’s life as a

publicly quoted company, has presented a very chal-

lenging trading environment for us against the back-

drop of economic and political instability worldwide

and in our domestic market. Despite all this, I am

pleased to report that SHL is encouraged by its prog-

ress, its growing product portfolio and is consoli-

dating its position as a world leader in telemedicine

solutions as evidenced by its presence across the

three continents it operates in, the number of 

patients who place their trust in SHL’s products and

services which has grown to 300,000 subscribers

worldwide, and the increasing awareness amongst

medical practitioners of the benefits of using tele-

medicine.

Telemedicine, the transmission of medical data via a

standard telecommunications network by an individ-

ual patient in a remote location to a medical monitor

center for the purpose of monitoring and diagnosis,

retains a key role in modern healthcare. This remote

monitoring of patients’ health helps provide peace 

of mind to patients and improves the quality of life 

of those who know that help, reassurance and diag-

nosis are only a phone call away. Focused mainly 

on servicing cardiac, respiratory and blood pressure- 

related illnesses, SHL’s products and services aim 

to maintain the highest levels of excellence in the 

services it provides to its customers. 

In our continued efforts to address patients’ needs,

we launched TeleMarker™, a transtelephonic testing

device which enables subscribers to self-perform a

blood test to detect the presence of cardiac markers,

all from the convenience of their own home. This 

SHL TeleMedicine – 
continually committed to 
being at the forefront 
of telemedicine solutions 
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Editorial

device, which is the first of its

kind, enables speedy detection 

of acute myocardial infarctions.

Launched in our home market, 

it has been enthusiastically ac-

cepted by patients and doctors

alike and further contributes to 

ratifying our world leadership in

the telemedicine market. 

This year has seen SHL’s revenues

increase by 10% to USD 98.8 mil-

lion. The company, however, re-

corded losses of USD 10.2 million 

– USD 0.96 per share – that were 

substantially attributable to the

provisions required for the oper-

ations of PHTS, the European

joint venture with Philips, and

fluctuations in exchange rates.

This is the first full year in which

our US operation, Raytel, is fully

consolidated into our financial 

accounts. It is continuing to per-

form well and contributes stable

revenues to the overall business.

In our home market, we continue

to be the largest player in the tele-

medicine field with the number 

of subscribers growing to over

70,000. In Europe, SHL has as-

sumed, since January 2004, the

full ownership of PHTS.

Against this background of de-

velopment and staying at the forefront of patients’

needs, we are confident that we are set to remain 

the world’s leading telemedicine provider with the

ambition of being able to attend to other sectors 

of healthcare which would benefit from the many 

advantages telemedicine offers.

This year would not have been possible without the

relentless hard work of our staff, the trust placed 

in our products and services by our clients and the

support and trust our shareholders lend us year after

year. For this I would like to sincerely thank you and

I am sure that you join with me in extending our

heartfelt appreciation to all our employees for their

efforts on behalf of the Company. I look forward to 

reporting further milestones in SHL’s development.

Yours sincerely,

Yoram Alroy, Chairman and President



The year 2003 has seen significant progress
from SHL’s US operation Raytel, which 
has had an increase in profitability. 
However, overall group financial perform-
ance was not satisfactory. US operations
continue to contribute to a large percentage 
of group revenues. With a growing inter-
national presence and further product 
development, SHL remains confident about
the future.

During 2003, overall revenues increased by 10% to

USD 98.8 million. EBITDA and EBIT margins for

the 12-month period stood at 11.6% and 3.1% re-

spectively, losses for the year amounted to USD 10.2

million with losses per share amounting to USD

0.96. SHL’s operations proved to be stable in a

challenging environment, and its solid balance sheet

remains a strong backbone for future growth.

SHL’s US operations increased profitability follow-

ing the restructuring which took place after the 

acquisition and which was designed to improve the

efficiency and overall sales potential of its cardiac

and diagnostic services. The success of this oper-

ation was ensured by the new management team

Report/Outlook
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SHL remains poised to face 
the challenges and reap 
the rewards in the coming years.

Increasing international 
presence sees 
rise in profitability of 
US operation 



and the ongoing support of the SHL team, designed

to oversee the smooth implementation of improved

IT platforms, marketing initiatives and operational

and financial reorganization.

Product highlights in home market 
In its home market, SHL continues to be the 

leader in the provision of telemedical services and

saw continued growth in sales of its services and 

in subscriber numbers which currently reached 

over 70,000. The Israeli operation benefited from

the ongoing success of its broad range of tele-

medicine services. “Thin for Life”, the latest addition

to these services, was received well in its first year 

of operation.

In its continued efforts of product development,

SHL launched TeleMarker™, a blood-testing device

aiding the diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction.

The device had enjoyed good initial acceptance by 

Israeli subscribers. Its success warrants its intro-

duction into other markets.

Outlook – SHL is poised to reap 
rewards of 2004
Maintaining its confidence in the opportunities

which lie ahead for telemedicine, SHL remains 

poised to face the challenges and reap the rewards 

in the coming years.  

With regards to its international network, SHL 

expects to continue to benefit from the growth 

and profitability seen in the US operation and plans

to use it as a platform for the launch of additional 

products which have had proven success. With the

January 2004 acquisition of the Philips share of

PHTS, and after a strategic review, SHL aims to 

develop PHTS’ potential and thus continue its ex-

pansion in the European market.

Following its stated strategy of growth organically

and through acquisition, SHL will continue to in-

troduce new products and services through tech-

nological innovation and will examine interesting 

opportunities for selected acquisitions, especially 

to enhance its client base. All of this, in order to 

continue SHL’s efforts to enhance the telemedicine

offering and to continue being the leading tele-

medicine provider of services and devices.

Report/Outlook
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SHL will continue to introduce 
new products and services through 
technological innovation. 
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Extending 
the telemedicine 
offering across 
continents

2003 has presented itself as a demanding
year for SHL TeleMedicine. Co-CEOs Erez
and Yariv Alroy talk about the challenges
they have faced and SHL’s strategy and 
ambitions for 2004, especially with regard 
to its growing presence across continents.

The financial results in 2003 were lower than 

expected. Why?

Erez Alroy: SHL has continued to pursue its goals 

as stated at the end of last year. The pursuance 

of these goals has, however, been affected by an

overall difficult economic environment which has 

influenced revenues. In addition, we had to make

provisions to PHTS, our fully owned subsidiary

since January 2004 in Europe, which impacted 

on earnings.  

After facing the challenges of this year, 

would you say you have had to change aspects 

in your strategy?

Erez Alroy: The answer to this question is twofold.

We remain confident in our business model and in

the growth of telemedicine, including in the USA,

which is a key market and is set to further benefit

from the increase in demand for telemedicine 

services. With regards to Europe, with the recently

acquired PHTS we are implementing the relevant

steps to bring this activity in line with our overall

strategy. 

You have made 

progress in the US 

operations. What are 

the most prominent 

improvements?

Yariv Alroy: The US operation has certainly become

a profitable and growing part of our business. It is

now considered to be the leading provider of trans-

telephonic monitoring services in the USA. During

2003, we were able to implement the majority of

“We remain confident in 
our business model and in the 
growth of telemedicine.”
Erez Alroy, Co-CEO



our reorganization plans for the US operation and

we are now in a position to reap the rewards of 

this process: our US operation has become more

profitable and contributes a large percentage to our

overall revenues. Looking ahead to 2004, we are 

excited about the recently acquired business of Car-

diac Evaluation Center Inc. and Cardiac Diagnostic

Centers Inc. (CEC), which we acquired in January

2004. In addition, we are planning to capitalize on

the success enjoyed by some of our products and

services in our home market by launching these in

the USA.

Would you say that the cardiac field is still the main

market for telemedicine services?

Erez Alroy: SHL’s telemedicine services are heavily

focused on the cardiac field. Heart disease con-

tinues to be responsible for the highest death rates

and our products and services are designed to help

minimize the impact of heart disease by constant

monitoring of our subscribers. The initial focus of

SHL was therefore to operate in the cardiac market,

though we have also identified other diseases or

conditions, such as respiratory and hypertension,

which would benefit from our services. 

Where will future growth come from?

Yariv Alroy: SHL’s future growth will continue as 

it has to date, both organically, as demand for our

products increases, and via selected acquisitions. 

As we plan to continue focusing on our current 

business areas, acquisitions in the future will con-

centrate on enhancing our customer bases.

What are your key goals for 2004?

Erez Alroy: Continuing to improve profitability 

in the US operation and fully integrating CEC. 

We will implement our strategy in Europe and will

do all we can to meet shareholders’ expectations. 

In addition, we will continue to improve results in

our home market.

Strategy

SHL’s share performance has been poor and 

underperforming. What do you do to avoid this 

happening again?

Erez Alroy: Truly, the share performance this year

has been below expectations. We are confident that

investors will honor SHL’s long-term strategy once

we can deliver good results over a few quarters.
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“Our US operation 
has certainly become 
a profitable and growing 
part of our business.”
Yariv Alroy, Co-CEO
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At the heart of SHL’s operations, is the Medical Call

Center which is staffed with fully trained nurses and

physicians able to diagnose a problem and provide

advice on the course of action in emergencies, and

in other cases simply provide reassurance that all is

well. The efficiency and reliability of the Call Center

is ensured by proprietary software containing medi-

cal records on each subscriber to SHL’s products and

services. This handles different aspects of patient 

record management and constitutes a solid refer-

ence tool for diagnosis and analysis of patient’s new 

medical data. Evidence of its reliability is seen in its

receiving 1.2 million calls and processing 800,000

ECG’s annually.  

SHL’s flagship products in the cardiac field include

the CardioBeeper 12/12®, a compact hand-held de-

vice facilitating the transmission of a full 12-lead

ECG to the monitor center in 12 seconds, and the

CardioBeeper 12L® transmitter. All ECG transmitters

are cleared for marketing by the FDA. They have 

all proved highly effective in enabling remote, 

real-time diagnosis of ECG abnormalities, including 

rhythm disturbances, ischemia and heart attacks.

The CardioPocket®, a leather wallet containing a 

1-lead rhythm strip ECG transmitter, provides a use-

ful alternative for subscribers at times when they 

are not carrying the CardioBeeper.

A growing product and 
services range

Designed with emergency situations in mind, the

improved WatchMan®, a wristwatch fitted with an

integral distress button and microphone, facilitates

instant communication with the monitor center.

Complementary to this product, the Home Care

Center is an interface for medical diagnostic devices

as well as an emergency response system and with

TeleDoor®, the monitor center staff will be able to

unlock the subscriber’s door allowing medical or 

security staff to enter in moments of panic and need.

The Telepulse Oximeter, a hand-held device that

measures oxygen saturation and pulse, emitting an

alarm when it detects dangerously low levels, is 

used for the monitoring of congestive heart failure.

The TelePress III, reads and transmits blood pres-

sure and pulse rates from up to two users in a 

household.

With regards to the remote monitoring of pul-

monary diseases, the TeleBreather is a hand-held

measurement device designed to detect asthma and

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, enabling

subscribers to perform an automatic spirometric test

over the telephone.

TelePress III

CardioBeeper® 12/12
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New Product Releases

TeleMarker™

In 2003, SHL’s product offering was enhanced with

the launch of TeleMarker™, a transtelephonic car-

diac blood testing device used for the preliminary

diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction. Easy to 

use by the subscriber at home, the TeleMarker™, 

obtains a precise blood sample and performs an ac-

curately timed, laboratory-type analysis of multiple

critical cardiac markers, the results of which are 

automatically transmitted over the telephone to the

medical monitor center. The analysis assists the call

center staff to determine whether there are any sug-

gestive MI signs, based on abnormal ECG changes

or elevations in the cardiac markers, all key elements

for accurate diagnosis. The TeleMarker™, like the

rest of SHL’s products, has as its aim to facilitate 

peace of mind and improve the quality of life of its

subscribers.

Thin for Life program

The Thin for Life program, launched in SHL’s home

market Israel, was designed with the idea of com-

bating the growing prevalence of obesity amongst

the world’s population and which is a serious threat

to general health, especially to those patients with a

preexisting heart condition. The program, which

helps subscribers reduce and maintain their weight

over a long period of time, works in conjunction

with our TeleWeight device which measures the 

subscriber’s weight and sends it to the call center for

assessment by a clinical dietician. 

US operation offers a range of remote trans-
telephonic products and services

Transtelephonic Pacemaker Monitoring Service of

cardiac implantable devices offers routine testing via

a standard telephone of implanted heart pacemakers

and ICDs from the convenience of patients’ homes.

This service, designed to supplement periodic visits

by the patient to a physician’s office, can provide

early detection of device-related complications. It

provides physicians with information on pacemaker

and lead performance, avoiding the risk of unde-

tected pacemaker or ICD malfunction. 

Holter Monitoring is the principal diagnostic pro-

cedure for cardiac arrhythmia, or irregular heart-

beat. These monitoring sessions, which last 24

hours, consist in fitting the patients with a record-

ing device with leads attached to their chest and

which transmits consistently accurate and reliable

cardiac arrhythmia. In addition, we also offer the 

30-Day Arrhythmia Monitoring Service designed 

to accurately document and diagnose the under-

lying cause of intermittent cardiac arrhythmias in

patients who do not exhibit the symptoms on a 

daily basis. Through a 30-day monitoring, during

which patients are given a pager-sized monitor, the

patients will activate the monitor to record their ECG

whenever typical symptoms such as palpitations,

light-headedness, shortness of breath, dizziness or

syncope arise. Thus the ECG will be transmitted by 

telephone to a monitor center for diagnosis.  

SHL’s US operation also has an Anticoagulation

Therapy Monitoring Service: the INR@Home which

provides patients requiring long-term oral anti-

coagulation therapy (medication such as Coumadin)

the ability to test themselves in the convenience of

their home.

TeleMarker™



Investors

10

Statistics on SHL TeleMedicine shares as at December 31, 2003 

Registered shares with a par value of NIS 0.01 each

Securities number 1128957

Number of shares 10,663,373

Market price high/low (CHF) 9.2/4.0

Market capitalization high/low (CHF million) 98.1/42.7

Market capitalization 12/31/03 (CHF million) 60.8

Share capital nominal value (NIS) 106,633

Majority interests 60.37 %

Key figures per share as at December 31, 2003

Net loss per share (USD) (0.96)

Return on equity n.m.

Capital structure

The issued share capital is divided into 10,663,373

registered shares with a par value of NIS 0.01 each.

Distribution of profits

SHL TeleMedicine Ltd. currently intends to retain

any future earnings to finance the development of 

its business and does not anticipate paying any cash 

dividends in the foreseeable future.

Major shareholders 

Shareholders with more than 5% of all shares may 

be registered. There are no restrictions on voting

rights.

Royal Philips Electronics 18.71 %

Alroy Group 18.67 %

Tower Holdings B.V. 14.28 %

G.Z. Assets and Management Ltd. 8.71 %

Public 39.63 %
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SHL TeleMedicine share price in CHF

Swiss Performance Index (SPI)

Investor Relations

SHL TeleMedicine Ltd.

Erez Alroy, Co-CEO

Erez Termechy, Vice President & CFO

90 Igal Alon St., Tel Aviv 67891, Israel

Tel. ++972 3 561 2212

Fax ++972 3 624 2414

E-mail ereza@shl-telemedicine.com

E-mail erezt@shl-telemedicine.com

Annual General Meeting

April 29, 2004

Next publications

Q 1 results: May 24, 2004

Q 2 results: August 23, 2004

Q 3 results: November 24, 2004

Share price development

Information for investors

Listing

All SHL shares are listed on SWX Swiss Exchange

Ticker symbol: SHLTN

Currency: CHF

Listing date: November 15, 2000



Milestones
1987 Company founded

1991 Home Care Center (HCC) introduced

1994 CardioBeeper® CB 12L introduced

1996 Telepress II and TeleDoor® developed

1997 SHL TeleMedicine International Ltd. founded

1998 CardioPocket® introduced

1998 Internet Medical Service developed

1999 CardioPocket® heart monitor wins 

UK “Millennium Product” award

1999 WatchMan® product named overall winner at

IFSEC

2000 CardioBeeper® CB 12/12 introduced, 

receives FDA approval

2000 Royal Philips Electronics Group purchases 

18% equity stake in SHL (September)

2000 SHL completes initial public offering on SWX 

New Market in Zurich, Switzerland (November)

2001 Multi-channel ECG receiver and Cardio mc 

Vision 7 receive FDA marketing clearance, 

Home Care Center exempted from FDA’s pre-

market notification requirement

2001 TeleBreather introduced, TelePress III receives 

FDA approval

2001 Philips Telemedicine joint venture formed 

with Philips Medical Systems; operations begin 

in Europe using SHL technology and services

2001 SHL acquires leading Israeli operator 

of nationwide 24/7 medical call center 

and house-call service, Bikurofe

2002 Introduction of new Swiss-made Watchman®

2002 SHL expands into the USA with acquisition 

of leading US cardiac monitoring and testing 

provider Raytel

2002 Personal nutrition service “Thin for Life” 

launched in home market

2003 Blood testing device TeleMarker™ launched in 

home market

2004 Assumption of full ownership of PHTS in Europe

2004 Extension of the US operation  through the 

acquisition of Cardiac Evaluation Center (CEC)

Concept and Editing: IR Firm, Zurich
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SHL TeleMedicine Ltd.
Ashdar Building
90 Igal Alon St. 
Tel Aviv 67891
Israel
Tel. +972 3 561 2212
Fax +972 3 624 2414
E-mail: shl@shl-telemedicine.com 
www.shl-telemedicine.com
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SHL TeleMedicine Ltd. Corporate Governance Report

For SHL TeleMedicine Ltd., based in Tel-Aviv, Israel, 

2003 was a challenging and certainly an important year:

This is the first full year in which our US operations, Raytel,

are fully consolidated into our financial accounts. In our

home market SHL continues to be a prominent and leading

player in the telemedicine field. We now offer the benefit of

SHL-brand high-quality telemedicine products and services

to more than 300,000 customers worldwide.

SHL is pleased to present its second Corporate Gover-

nance Report. In this section of our 2003 Annual Report we

are happy to demonstrate our continued strive for greater

corporate transparency in the belief that this knowledge

will bring a greater understanding valuable to all those who

are interested in the future of SHL. 

The principles and rules of SHL on corporate governance

are laid down in the Articles of Association of SHL and 

the Israeli Companies Law, 5759–1999 (the “Israeli Com-

panies Law”). The information presented here is as of 

December 31, 2003, unless otherwise stated (see “Signifi-

cant Changes since December 31, 2003” on page 28), 

and complies with the Corporate Governance Directive of

the SWX Swiss Exchange.

Group Structure and Shareholders

Group Structure

Description of all companies belonging to SHL’s group:

SHL TeleMedicine Ltd. (“SHL”)

SHL’s authorized share capital is comprised of NIS

140,000 divided into 14,000,000 ordinary shares of NIS

0.01 par value each. SHL’s issued and outstanding share 

SHL’s Corporate Chart

capital of SHL is NIS 106,633.73 divided into 10,663,373

fully paid registered ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value

each (including 83,077 ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par 

value each held by SHL). For additional information regard-

ing the implications of the purchase by a Company of 

its own shares, see Section “The Ordinary Shares, Voting

Rights” on page 18). The registered shares of SHL are traded

on the main board of the SWX Swiss Exchange, security

no. 1128957. As at December 31, 2003, the Company’s mar-

ket capitalization was approximately CHF 60.8 million. 

SHL’s registered office is at 90 Igal Alon Street (Ashdar

Building), Tel-Aviv, Israel.

Shahal Haifa – Medical Services Ltd. (“Shahal Haifa”)

Shahal Haifa’s authorized share capital is comprised of

NIS 13,000 divided into 12,000 ordinary shares of NIS 1

par value each and 1,000 voting shares of NIS 1 par value

each. Shahal Haifa’s issued and outstanding share capital

is comprised of 100 ordinary shares of NIS 1 par value

each and 100 voting shares of NIS 1 par value each, all of

which are held by SHL. 

Shahal Haifa’s registered office is at 90 Igal Alon Street,

(Ashdar Building), Tel-Aviv, Israel.

Shahal Rashlatz-Rehovot Medical Services Ltd. 

(“Shahal Rishon”) 

Shahal Rishon’s authorized share capital is comprised of

NIS 16,600 divided into 16,600 ordinary shares of NIS 1

par value each. Shahal Rishon’s issued and outstanding

share capital is comprised of 100 ordinary shares of NIS 1

par value each, all of which are held by SHL. 

Shahal Rishon’s registered office is at 90 Igal Alon Street

(Ashdar Building), Tel-Aviv, Israel.

* On December 23, 2003, SHL
(through its subsidiaries) en-
tered into an agreement to
purchase from a subsidiary of
Royal Philips Electronics the
entire share capital of PHTS.
The closing of the agreement
occurred on January 20, 2004,
after the approval of the trans-
action by the General Meeting
of the Shareholders of SHL. 

SHL TeleMedicine International Ltd.

SHL TeleMedicine North America, Inc.

Raytel Medical Corporation

Shahal Haifa 
Medical Services Ltd.

Shahal Rashlatz-Rehovot 
Medical Services Ltd.

Bikurofe Ltd.

SHL TeleMedicine B.V.

SHL TeleMedicine 
Global Trading Ltd.

PHTS
(JV with Philips)

SHL TeleMedicine Ltd.
100% 100% 100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100% 19.9%*
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Bikurofe Ltd. (“Bikurofe”) 

Bikurofe’s authorized share capital is comprised of NIS

1,000,000 divided into 1,000,000 ordinary shares of 

NIS 1 par value each. Bikurofe’s issued and outstanding

share capital is comprised of 12,632 ordinary shares of

NIS 1 par value each, all of which are held by SHL. 

Bikurofe’s registered office is 14 Rozansky Street, Rishon

Le-Zion, Israel.

SHL TeleMedicine International Ltd. (“STI”) 

STI’s authorized share capital is comprised of NIS 101,000

divided into 91,000 ordinary shares of NIS 1 par value each

and 10,000 preferred shares of NIS 1 par value each. STI’s

issued and outstanding share capital is comprised of 8,260

ordinary shares of NIS 1 par value each and 1,740 preferred

share of NIS 1 par value each, all of which are held by SHL.

STI’s registered office is at 90 Igal Alon Street (Ashdar

Building), Tel-Aviv, Israel.

SHL TeleMedicine B.V. (“SHL BV”) 

SHL BV’s authorized share capital is comprised of Euro

30,000,000 divided into 300,000 ordinary shares of Euro

100 par value each. SHL BV’s issued and outstanding

share capital is comprised of 74,043 ordinary shares of

Euro 100 par value each, all of which are held by STI. 

SHL BV’s registered office is at Stadhouderskade 125 hs,

1074 AV, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

SHL TeleMedicine North America, Inc. 

(“SHL N. America”) 

SHL N. America’s authorized share capital is comprised of

USD 100,000 divided into 1,000,000 shares of common

stock of USD 0.1 par value each. SHL N. America’s issued

and outstanding share capital is comprised of 1,000,000

shares of common stock of USD 0.1 par value each, all of

which are held by STI. 

SHL N. America’s registered office is at 15 East North

Street, City of Dover, County of Kent, Delaware, USA.

Raytel Medical Corporation (“Raytel”) 

Raytel’s authorized share capital is comprised of USD

22,000 divided into 20,000,000 shares of common stock

of USD 0.001 par value each and 2,000,000 shares of

Preferred Stock of USD 0.001 par value each. Raytel’s 

issued and outstanding share capital is comprised of

2,988,687 shares of common stock of USD 0.001 par 

value each, all of which are held by SHL N. America. 

Raytel’s registered office is at 15 East North Street, City of

Dover, County of Kent, Delaware, USA.

SHL TeleMedicine Global Trading Ltd. (“SHL Global”) 

SHL Global’s authorized share capital is comprised of

Euro 1,000,000 divided into 1,000,000 ordinary shares of

Euro 1 par value each. SHL Global’s issued and out-

standing share capital is comprised of 1,000 ordinary 

shares of Euro 1 par value each, all of which are held by

SHL BV. 

SHL Global’s registered office is at Wil House, Shannon

Business Park, Shannon, Co. Clare, Ireland.

Philips HeartCare Telemedicine Services Europe B.V.

(“PHTS”)

PHTS’ authorized share capital is comprised of Euro

4,000,000 divided into 400,000 shares of common stock

of Euro 10 par value each. PHTS’ issued and outstanding

share capital is comprised of 81,500 shares of common

stock of Euro 10 par value each. On December 23, 2003,

SHL, through its subsidiaries, entered into an agreement

to purchase from a subsidiary of Royal Philips Electronics

the entire share capital of PHTS. The closing of the agree-

ment for the purchase of the shares of PHTS occurred on

January 20, 2004, and SHL B.V. became the holder of the

entire issued and outstanding share capital of PHTS. (See

“Significant Changes since December 31, 2003” on page

28 below).

There are no companies belonging to the consolidated en-

tities of SHL whose equity securities are listed on a stock

exchange.

Significant Shareholders

Royal Philips Electronics 18.71%

Alroy Group* 18.67%

Tower Holdings B.V.** 14.28%

G.Z. Assets and Management Ltd. 8.71%

Public 39.63%

* Alroy Group is comprised of Mr. Yoram Alroy that holds, individually
and through an entity wholly owned by him and by his spouse, ap-
proximately 6.83% of the issued and outstanding share capital of
SHL, Mr. Elon Shalev, brother-in-law of Mr. Yoram Alroy, that holds,
individually and through Elon Shalev Investments Ltd., a private com-
pany wholly owned by Mr. Elon Shalev, approximately 6.79% of the 
issued and outstanding share capital of SHL, and Y. Alroy Family Ltd.,
a private company wholly owned by Mr. Yoram Alroy, Mr. Elon Shalev
and members of their family, that holds approximately 5.04% of the
issued and outstanding share capital of SHL.  
** As of December 31, 2003, Tower Holding B.V. was not registered in
the SAG Register. Notwithstanding the aforesaid SHL was informed
that Tower Holding B.V. is the beneficial owner of such amount of
shares. 

The above table of Significant Shareholders reflects actual

holdings in accordance with the SAG Register as of 

December 31, 2003, and does not reflect holdings on a

fully diluted basis. 
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Capital Structure

Authorized and Issued Capital

Authorized share capital as per December 31, 2003

Number of Ordinary Shares 14,000,000

Par value of NIS 0.01 each

Share capital NIS 140,000

Issued and outstanding capital as per December 31, 2003

Number of Ordinary Shares 10,663,373*

Par value of NIS 0.01 each

Share capital NIS 106,633.73

* Including 83,077 Ordinary Shares held by SHL. For additional infor-
mation regarding the implications of the purchase by a company of 
its own shares, see Section “The Ordinary Shares, Voting Rights” on
page 18.

Under Israeli Law, a company’s authorized share capital

represents the maximum amount of shares which is 

authorized for issuance by the company. SHL’s authorized

share capital is comprised of NIS 140,000 divided into

14,000,000 ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value each

(the “Ordinary Shares”). The issued and outstanding share

capital of SHL is NIS 106,633.73 divided into 10,663,373

fully paid registered Ordinary Shares (including 83,077

Ordinary Shares held by SHL. (For additional information

regarding the implications of the purchase by a company

of its own shares, see Section “The Ordinary Shares, 

Voting Rights” on page 18). According to the Articles of

Association of SHL, any increase of the authorized share

capital shall require a resolution approved by a sixty-six

(66) percent majority of the voting power of the share-

holders represented at the meeting and voting thereon.

Any increase in the authorized share capital is valid as 

of the date of the approval thereof by the shareholders. 

Authorized share capital, or any increase thereof is not 

limited in time. However, the shareholders may, at the 

General Meeting, cancel authorized but not yet issued

share capital, provided that the company has not under-

taken to issue shares out of such authorized but unissued

share capital. Pursuant to SHL’s Articles of Association,

the unissued shares are under the sole control of the 

Board of Directors of SHL who has the authority to allot 

or otherwise dispose of them on such terms and con-

ditions as it may think fit. Generally, any such issuance of

shares is valid as of the date of the approval thereof by 

the Board of Directors.

SHL approved a maximum number of up to 856,627 

Ordinary Shares reserved for issuance upon exercise of

options that may be granted pursuant to the Option Plans.

For additional information with respect to share option

plans adopted by SHL and the grant of options to purchase

Ordinary Shares, see Section “Share Options” on page 16.

Changes in Capital Structure within the 

Last Three Financial Years

During 2002, SHL purchased 29,347 Ordinary Shares

from the public on the SWX Stock Exchange. During

2003, SHL purchased additional 53,730 Ordinary Shares

from the public on the SWX Stock Exchange. For ad-

ditional information regarding the implications of the

purchase by a company of its own shares, see Section “The

Ordinary Shares, Voting Rights” on page 18. 

Share Options

In September 2000, SHL adopted an option plan for the

issuance of options to purchase Ordinary Shares (“Op-

tions”) to its employees, directors, consultants and con-

tractors that was amended in November 2000 (the “2000

Share Option Plan”). On September 2000, SHL approved

a maximum pool of up to 856,627 Ordinary Shares re-

served for issuance upon exercise of Options that may 

be granted pursuant to the 2000 Share Option Plan (the

“Option Pool”).

In November 2000, after the completion of the Public 

Offering, SHL granted to employees and consultants of

the SHL group 496,202 Options to purchase 496,202 

Ordinary Shares at the price of CHF 34.00 (the public 

offering price) under the terms of the 2000 Share Option

Plan. During 2001, a further 23,340 Options to purchase

23,340 Ordinary Shares were granted under the terms of

the 2000 Share Option Plan and at the same exercise

price. The aforesaid Options are subject to a four(4)-year

vesting schedule which provides for fifty (50) percent of

the options to be vested on the second anniversary of the

date of the grant and an additional twenty-five (25) percent

to be vested on each of the third and fourth anniversary of

the date of the grant.

During 2001, SHL granted to employees and consultants

of the SHL group an additional 97,975 Options to pur-

chase 97,975 Ordinary Shares at the price of CHF 22.65

(the market price at the date of the approval) under the

terms of the 2000 Share Option Plan. The aforesaid Op-

tions are subject to a three(3)-year vesting schedule which

provides for one-third (1/3) of the Options to be vested on

each of the first, second and third anniversary of the date

of the grant.

In July 2002, SHL adopted the 2002 International Share

Option Plan (the “2002 International Share Option Plan”)

for the issuance of Options to non-Israeli employees, 

directors, officers and consultants of SHL and any of its

subsidiaries, and determined that the Option Poll reserved

for purposes of the 2000 Share Option Plan shall further

serve for purposes of the 2002 International Share Option

Plan.   

In October 2003, due to a tax reform in Israel that 

changed the tax regime with respect to Options granted 

to employees and directors, SHL adopted the 2003 Share

Option Plan (the “2003 Share Option Plan”) for the 
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issuance of Options to employees, directors, consultants

and contractors of SHL and any of its subsidiaries, and 

determined that the Option Pool reserved for purposes of

the 2000 Share Option Plan and the 2002 International

Share Option Plan shall further serve for purposes of the

2003 Share Option Plan (the 2000 Share Option Plan, the

2002 International Share Option Plan and the 2003 Share

Option Plan, together: the “Option Plans”).

In October 2003, SHL granted to employees and consul-

tants of the SHL Group and an executive member of the

Board of Directors of SHL 113,560 Options to purchase

113,560 Ordinary Shares under the terms of the 2003

Share Option Plan. One-third (1/3) of such Options have an

exercise price of CHF 6.89; one-third (1/3) of such Options

have an exercise price of CHF 10.89, provided, however,

that if such Options are exercised after October 30, 2005,

the exercise price shall be CHF 6.89; and one-third (1/3) 

of such Options have an exercise price of CHF 10.89, 

provided, however, that if such Options are exercised after 

October 30, 2006, the exercise price shall be CHF 6.89.

All such Options shall fully vest on October 30, 2004.

In December 2003, SHL effectuated an options exchange

program (the “Options Exchange Program”) aimed at re-

ducing the exercise price of Options granted under the

terms of the 2000 Share Option Plan to reflect the market

price of the Ordinary Shares of SHL. The Options Ex-

change Program offered holders of such Options to cancel

all Options previously granted to them in exchange for

new Options to be granted under the terms of the 2003

Share Option Plan at an exchange ratio of 1:0.8 (i.e. 

0.8 new Options for every 1 Option canceled) and at an

exercise price equal to the market price on the date of

exchange (which was determined as December 17, 2003).

As a result of the Options Exchange Plan, 485,627 Op-

tions to purchase 485,627 Ordinary Shares at the price 

of CHF 34.00 or CHF 22.65 (as applicable), which were

previously granted under the terms of the 2000 Share 

Option Plan, were cancelled, and in exchange 388,501 

Options to purchase 388,501 Ordinary Shares at the price

of CHF 5.9 (the market price on the date of exchange)

were granted under the terms of the 2003 Share Option

Plan to employees, consultants and executive members of

the Board of Directors of SHL that participated in the Op-

tions Exchange Program. The Options granted under the

Options Exchange Program will vest in accordance with

the original vesting schedule under which the Options

they replaced were to vest, provided, however, that all such 

Options not yet vested on December 31, 2004, will fully

vest on such date.      

Generally, all Options granted under the Option Plans are

valid for a term of ten (10) years from the date of their

grant, subject to early termination due to cessation of

employment or service of the option holder. 

Information with respect to the number of Options 

granted under the Option Plans is as follows: 

No. of Options Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 417,112 CHF 34.00

97,975 CHF 22.65

Granted (in the Options Exchange) 388,501 CHF   5.90

Granted 113,560 CHF   6.89*

Cancelled (including in Options Exchange)** 411,097 CHF 34.00

Cancelled (including in Options Exchange)** 97,975 CHF 22.65

Cancelled** 729 CHF   5.90

Outstanding at end of year 6,015 CHF 34.00

Outstanding at end of year 387,772 CHF   5.90

Outstanding at end of year 113,560 CHF   6.89*

Total outstanding at end of year 507,347

* One-third (1/3) of such Options have an exercise price of CHF 6.89; one-third (1/3)
of such Options have an exercise price of CHF 10.89, provided, however, that 
if such Options are exercised after October 30, 2005, the exercise price shall be
CHF 6.89; and one-third (1/3) of such Options have an exercise price of CHF 10.89,
provided, however, that if such Options are exercised after October 30, 2006, the
exercise price shall be CHF 6.89.
** Options that are cancelled are returned to the pool and may be regranted in
the future.

The Ordinary Shares

All the issued Ordinary Shares rank pari passu in all re-

spects. The Ordinary Shares do not have preemptive rights.

The ownership or voting of Ordinary Shares by non-resi-

dents of Israel, except with respect to citizens of countries

which are in a state of war with Israel, is not restricted in

any way by the Articles of Association of SHL or the laws of

the State of Israel. The Ordinary Shares are in book entry

form only. No share certificates are issued; however, share-

holders of record are entitled to receive non-negotiable 

confirmations from SHL evidencing their ownership of 

Ordinary Shares. Based on an agreement between SHL

and SIS SeganInterSettle AG (“SIS”), all issued Ordinary

Shares will be booked into the SIS Clearing System.

SNOC Agreement and Shareholder Registration

SHL has entered into an agreement with SNOC Swiss 

Nominee Company (“SNOC”, the “SNOC Agreement”) 

according to which SNOC has agreed to act as a nominee

on behalf of any person registered in a Share Register

maintained by SAG SEGA Aktienregister AG (“SAG”, the

“Share Register”).  SNOC is registered in SHL’s Register of

Shareholders as shareholder of all of the issued and 

outstanding Ordinary Shares. The registration of SNOC as

shareholder of record is due to certain legal requirements

under the Israeli Companies Law requiring a company

such as SHL to keep a register of shareholders registering

its shareholders of record. Under the SNOC Agreement,

SNOC has irrevocably agreed and instructed SHL to enable

each person registered from time to time with the SAG 

Register (a “Registered Person”) to exercise, on behalf 

of SNOC, with respect to numbers of Ordinary Shares 

registered in the subregister on behalf of such Registered

Person, all present and future rights and claims attached to

the Ordinary Shares registered on SNOC’s name in SHL’s

Register of Shareholders. SHL has irrevocably acknow-

ledged and accepted such instruction of SNOC that a Regis-
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tered Person is entitled to exercise all present and future

rights and claims attached to the Ordinary Shares with 

respect to the number of Ordinary Shares registered on 

behalf of such person in the SAG Register.

SNOC undertook to execute and deliver, upon request, to

any Registered Person or to SHL any and all documents

reasonably necessary to enable the Registered Person to

exercise all rights attached to the Ordinary Shares, includ-

ing voting rights.

Upon request of a Registered Person, record ownership 

of the number of Ordinary Shares registered in the name

of such person in the SAG Register will be transferred 

to such person, as a consequence of which settlement of

such Ordinary Shares may not be possible through SIS,

Clearstream and Euroclear.

Liquidation and Dividend Rights

In the event of SHL’s liquidation, after satisfaction of lia-

bilities to creditors, SHL’s liquidation proceeds will be dis-

tributed to the holders of Ordinary Shares in proportion to

the nominal value of their respective holdings. This liqui-

dation right may be affected by the grant of preferential 

dividend or distribution rights to the holders of a class of

shares with preferential rights that may be authorized in

the future. Under the Israeli Companies Law, dividends

may be paid out of profits and other surpluses, as calcu-

lated under the Israeli Companies Law, as of the end of 

the most recent fiscal year or as accrued over a period 

of two (2) years, whichever is higher, provided, however, 

that there is no reasonable concern that the payment of 

dividend will prevent the company from satisfying its 

existing and foreseeable obligations as they become due.

Any dividends will be subject to Israeli withholding tax.

SHL’s Articles of Association provide that the Board of 

Directors may from time to time declare and cause SHL to

pay such dividend as may appear to the Board of Directors

to be justified by the profits of SHL. The shareholders 

entitled to receive dividends are the shareholders on the 

date upon which it was resolved to distribute the dividends

or at such later date as shall be provided in the resolution

in question. Accordingly, under the SNOC Agreement,

each Registered Person is entitled to dividends.

Voting Rights

Holders of Ordinary Shares have one (1) vote for each 

Ordinary Share held on all matters submitted to a vote of 

shareholders. For additional information regarding voting

rights of the Ordinary Shares, see Section “Voting Rights’

Restrictions and Representations” on page 26. 

In case a company purchases its own shares, under the 

Israeli Companies Law such shares become dormant and

do not confer voting or any other rights so long as such

shares are held by the company.

There are no preferential voting rights attached to any of

the Shares of SHL.

Duties of Shareholders

Under the Israeli Companies Law, the disclosure require-

ments that apply to an office holder also apply to a control-

ling shareholder of a public company. A controlling share-

holder is a shareholder who has the ability to direct the 

activities of a company, including a shareholder that owns

twenty-five (25) percent or more of the voting rights if no

other shareholder owns more than fifty (50) percent of the

voting rights. Subject to certain exceptions, extraordinary

transactions (including a private placement which is an ex-

traordinary transaction) with a controlling shareholder or

in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest,

and the engagement of a controlling shareholder as an 

office holder or employee, require the approval of the audit

committee, the board of directors and the shareholders.

The shareholders approval must include at least one-third

(1/3) of the shares, of shareholders having no personal 

interest voted on the matter. However, the transaction can

be approved by shareholders without this one-third (1/3) 

approval if the total shares of shareholders having no per-

sonal interest voted against the transaction do not repre-

sent more than one (1) percent of the voting rights in the

company. Any shareholder participating in such vote is 

required to disclose, prior to his or her vote, whether he 

or she has a personal interest in the transaction. Failure 

to comply with such duty will result in such shareholder

not being entitled to vote.

An “interested party” in a private placement (i.e. a holder

of more than five (5) percent of the shares of a company or

one who may become such holder as a result of the private

placement) must promptly disclose any personal interest

that he or she may have and any material information

known to him or her in connection with such private 

placement. 

In addition, under the Israeli Companies Law, each share-

holder has a duty to act in good faith and customary way

toward the company and other shareholders and to refrain

from abusing his or her powers in the company, such as 

in shareholder votes, and from discriminating against

other shareholders. In addition, a shareholder may not

discriminate other shareholders. Furthermore, specified

shareholders have a duty of fairness towards the company.

These shareholders include any controlling shareholders,

any shareholder who knows that he or she possesses the

power to determine the outcome of a shareholders’ vote

and any shareholder who, pursuant to the provisions of

the articles of association, has the power to appoint an 

office holder or any other power with respect to the com-

pany. However, the Israeli Companies Law does not define

the substance of this duty of fairness. The aforesaid duties

of shareholders also apply to Registered Persons to the ex-

tent such Registered Persons exercise the rights attached

to the Ordinary Shares.
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Transfer of Ordinary Shares

Fully paid Ordinary Shares may be transferred freely. Pur-

suant to SHL’s Articles of Association, no transfer of 

shares shall be registered in SHL’s Register of Share-

holders unless a proper instrument of transfer in form

and substance satisfactory to the Board of Directors has

been submitted to SHL together with such other evidence

of title as the Board of Directors may reasonably require.

Until the transferee has been registered, SHL may con-

tinue to regard the transferor as the owner thereof. Any

Registered Person who wishes to become registered in

SHL’s Register of Shareholders may request SNOC to sign

a deed of transfer. Pursuant to SHL’s Articles of Asso-

ciation with regard to Ordinary Shares registered in the

Register of Shareholders in the name of SNOC or any 

nominee substituting SNOC, a written request in a form

satisfactory to the Board of Directors from a Registered

Person, to be registered in the Register of Shareholders 

instead of SNOC, together with a written confirmation 

issued by SAG evidencing the registration of such person,

including the number of Ordinary Shares registered on

such person’s behalf, in the SAG Register, shall also be a

proper instrument of transfer.

Except as specifically stated hereinabove, there are no statu-

tory restrictions limiting the transferability

of the Shares.

Convertible Bonds and Options

No Convertible Bonds were issued by

SHL. Information on Options may be 

found in the Section “Share Options” on

page 16.

Board of Directors

The primary duties of the Board of Directors of SHL (the

“Board of Directors”) are defined in the Israeli Companies

Law and in the Articles of Association of SHL.

Members of the Board of Directors 

The Articles of Association provide for a Board of Direc-

tors consisting of up to nine (9) members and not less

than three (3) until otherwise determined by simple re-

solution of the shareholders of SHL. The Board of Direc-

tors of SHL currently consists of nine (9) members, of

whom the only executive members are: Mr. Yoram Alroy

and Mr. Yariv Alroy. None of the current non-executive

members of the Board of Directors was a member of the

management of SHL or of any of SHL’s group companies

in the three (3) financial years preceding the period under

review. The non-executive members of the Board of Direc-

tors have no important business connections with SHL or

SHL’s group companies.  

The following table sets forth the name, principal position,

time of the first election, and the remaining term of office

of each member of the Board of Directors: 

The following table sets forth the name, principal position,

time of the first election, and date of resignation/dismissal

of the members of the Board of Directors who resigned or

were replaced during the year under review.

First Remaining 
Name Nationality Position Election Term

Yoram Alroy Israeli Chairman of the  1987 2004

Board of Directors and 

President

Elon Shalev Israeli Non-executive member 1987 2004

Yariv Alroy Israeli Co-CEO 2001 2004

Tom Egelund Danish Non-executive member 2002 2004

Colin Schachat Israeli Non-executive member 2001 2004

Ziv Carthy Israeli Non-executive member 1997 2004

Dvora Kimhi Israeli Non-executive member/ 2001 2004

Independent Director

Ron N. Salpeter Israeli Non-executive member/ 2003 2006

Independent Director

Omri Levin Israeli Non-executive member 2003 2004

First Resigned 
Name Nationality Position Election on

James Nolan Irish Non-executive member 2000 October 

2003
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Yoram Alroy, Chairman, and President

Yoram Alroy founded SHL in 1987. Commencing in 1987

and until September 2003 he has served as CEO and

Chairman of SHL’s Board of Directors. As of September

2003, Mr. Alroy serves as the President of SHL and the

Chairman of SHL’s Board of Directors. Prior to founding

SHL, Mr. Alroy was Executive Vice President of IBM Israel

and was for seventeen (17) years a member of IBM’s 

Israeli executive committee. Mr. Alroy is also a director 

of Shahal Haifa, Shahal Rishon and STI. Nationality: 

Israeli. 

Elon Shalev 

Elon Shalev has served as a director of SHL since 1987.

From 1990 to 1993, he was SHL’s Chief Operating Officer

after which he served three (3) years as Chief Executive 

Officer for an Israeli TV News company. From 1996 to

1999, he was chief editor of “Yediot Aharonot”, the largest

daily newspaper in Israel, and until recently he was a 

Senior Vice President of Discount Investment Corpora-

tion Ltd., one of the largest investment and holding com-

panies in Israel. Mr. Shalev is currently a private entre-

preneur. Mr. Shalev holds a BA degree in Political Science

from the University of Tel-Aviv, Israel. Mr. Shalev is 

also a director of Shahal Haifa, Shahal Rishon and STI.

Nationality: Israeli.  

Yariv Alroy, Co-CEO

Yariv Alroy has been on the Board of Directors since 2001.

He is also Co-CEO of SHL. He has been Managing Direc-

tor of STI since its incorporation in 1997, and prior to that

he was Chief Operating Officer of SHL Israel. Before join-

ing SHL, Mr. Alroy served as a senior partner in a large 

Israeli law firm. Mr. Alroy holds a degree in law from the

University of Tel-Aviv, Israel. Mr. Alroy is also a director 

of SHL N. America, Raytel and SHL Global. Nationality:

Israeli.  

Tom Egelund 

Tom Egelund joined the Board of Directors of SHL as 

a director in April 2002. Mr. Egelund is also a Senior 

Vice President of Philips Medical Systems, which is a

shareholder of PHTS and a subsidiary of Royal Philips 

Electronics N.V. that is a significant shareholder of SHL.

Mr. Egelund holds an MD in Candidatus Medicinae from

the University of Aarhus, Denmark, and a diploma in

marketing with respect to health care and industry from

the University of Aarhus, Denmark. Nationality: Danish.

Colin Schachat

Colin Schachat joined the Board of Directors of SHL as a

director in April 2001. Mr. Schachat is also a Managing 

Director of Stonehage (Israel) Financial Services Limited,

and a senior executive director of the holding Stonehage

Group. A qualified lawyer with financial services experi-

ence, he holds a BA and an LLB from the University of

Witwatersrand, South Africa. Nationality: Israeli.

Ziv Carthy

Ziv Carthy has been on the Board of Directors since 1997.

Between 1994 and 1997 Mr. Carthy served as a member 

of SHL’s management team; since 1997 Mr. Carthy has

been acting as CEO of G.Z. Assets and Management 

Ltd. Mr. Carthy holds a BSc in Information Systems

Engineering from the Technion in Haifa, Israel, and an

MBA from Harvard University. Mr. Carthy is also a direc-

tor of STI. Nationality: Israeli.

Dvora Kimhi, Independent Director

Dvora Kimhi joined the Board of Directors of SHL as an

Independent Director in February 2001. Ms. Kimhi is also

General Counsel of Ananey Communications Ltd. From

1997 until 2001 Ms. Kimhi has served as the General

Counsel of Noga Communications Ltd. A member of the

Israeli Bar Association, she holds an LLB from the Univer-

sity of Tel-Aviv, Israel, and has specialized in contract law,

communication regulation and legislative representation

for television, satellite, and communications companies.

Nationality: Israeli.

Ron N. Salpeter, Independent Director

Ron Salpeter joined the Board of Directors of SHL as 

an Independent Director in April 2003. From 1999, Mr.

Salpeter was involved in the field of investment banking

consulting and commencing in 2001 he is involved in 

the field of business development consulting large inter-

national enterprises. Mr. Salpeter holds an LLB from the

Faculty of Law, University of Tel-Aviv, Israel, and a Master

Degree (LLM) from Osaka University, Japan. Prior to

1999, Mr. Salpeter practiced law both in Israel and in 

Japan. Nationality: Israeli.  

Omri Levin

Omri Levin joined the Board of Directors of SHL as a 

director in October 2003. Mr. Levin, who replaced Mr. 

James Nolan on the Board of Directors of SHL, is also the

Chief Executive Officer of Philips, Israel, a subsidiary of

Royal Philips Electronics N.V. that is a significant share-

holder of SHL. From 1996 until 1999 Mr. Levin was the

marketing manager for Nestlé Ice Cream in Israel and

from 1999 until 2002 he acted as the General Manager of

Adidas Israel Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Adidas-

Salomon AG. Mr. Levin holds a BA in Business Admin-

istration and Economics from the Hebrew University, 

Jerusalem, Israel. Nationality: Israeli.
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James Nolan

James Nolan became a director of SHL in September

2000 and resigned from the Board of Directors of SHL

and of SHL Global in October 2003, due to his appoint-

ment as the Senior Vice President Corporate Mergers &

Acquisitions of Royal Philips Electronics N.V. that is a 

significant shareholder of SHL. From 1995 until 2000 

Mr. Nolan served as a corporate finance executive in Robo-

bank Mergers & Acquisitions. Mr. Nolan holds an MA in

law from Oxford University, England, and an MBA from

INSEAD, France. Mr. Nolan is also a member of the Board

of Directors of SHL Global. Nationality: Irish

Cross-involvement is indicated in the information regard-

ing each member of the Board of Directors above. 

Election of Directors and Term of Office

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of SHL, members

of the Board of Directors, except the two (2) Independent

Directors (who are to be elected as described below), are 

elected at the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders

by a vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power

represented at such meeting to serve until the next Annual

General Meeting.

Pursuant to the Shareholders Agreement (the “Share-

holders Agreement”) between SHL, the Alroy Group,

Royal Philips Electronics, Tower Holdings B.V. and G.Z.

Assets and Management Ltd., which is effective for a 

period of five (5) years as of November 2000, and which

will be automatically renewed for two (2) year periods, un-

less either party provides a three (3) months written notice

to terminate the Shareholders Agreement, Alroy Group,

Royal Philips Electronics, Tower Holdings B.V. and G.Z.

Assets and Management Ltd., agreed to vote their shares in

any General Meeting in order to ensure that the Board of

Directors will include three (3) nominees determined by

the Alroy Group, two (2) nominees determined by Royal

Philips Electronics, one (1) nominee determined by Tower

Holdings B.V., and one (1) nominee determined by G.Z.

Assets and Management Ltd. Each of the Alroy Group, 

Tower Holding B.V. and G.Z. Assets and management Ltd.

shall have the right to nominate directors as long as it

holds at least five (5) percent of the issued and outstanding

share capital of SHL. Royal Philips Electronics shall have

the right to nominate two (2) directors as long as it holds at

least ten (10) percent of the issued and outstanding share

capital of SHL, and to nominate one (1) director as long 

as it holds at least five (5) percent of the issued and out-

standing share capital of SHL. Notwithstanding the above,

Royal Philips Electronics undertook to vote its shares for

the appointment of the three (3) nominees of the Alroy

Group, during the period on which the shares held by

members of the Alroy Group are locked according to re-

levant lock-up agreements (which expired on November

2002). Thereafter, Royal Philips Electronics shall only be

required to vote its shares to the appointment to the Board

of (i) three (3) directors nominated by the Alroy Group, for

as long as the Alroy Group holds, in the aggregate, at least

twelve-and-one half (121/2) percent of the issued and out-

standing share capital of SHL; (ii) two (2) directors nomi-

nated by the Alroy Group, for as long as the Alroy Group

holds, in the aggregate, at least ten (10) percent of the 

issued and outstanding share capital of SHL; and (iii) one

(1) director nominated by the Alroy Group, for as long as

the Alroy Group holds, in the aggregate, at least five (5) per-

cent of the issued and outstanding share capital of SHL.

Independent Directors

Israeli companies that have offered securities to the public

in or outside of Israel under the provisions of the Israeli

Companies Law are required to appoint two (2) Indepen-

dent (“external”) Directors. To qualify as an Independent

Director, an individual may not have, and may not have had

at any time during the two (2) years prior to his appoint-

ment as an Independent Director, any affiliations with the

company or its affiliates, as such terms are defined in the

Israeli Companies Law. In addition, no individual may

serve as an Independent Director if the individual’s posi-

tion or other activities create or may create a conflict of 

interest with his or her role as an Independent Director or

may adversely affect such role. For a period of two (2) years

from termination from office, a former Independent Direc-

tor may not serve as a director or employee of the company

in which he serves as an Independent Director or provide

professional services to such company for consideration.

The Independent Directors generally must be elected 

by the shareholders, including at least one-third (1/3) of 

the shares of non-controlling shareholders voted on the 

matter. However, the Independent Directors can be elected

by shareholders without this one-third (1/3) approval if the

total shares of non-controlling shareholders voted against

the election do not represent more than one (1) percent of

the voting rights in the company. The term of an Indepen-

dent Director is three (3) years and may be extended for 

additional three (3) years. Each committee of a company’s 

board of directors authorized to exercise the powers of the

board of directors is required to include at least one (1) in-

dependent director, and pursuant to the Israeli Companies

Law, the board of directors is required to appoint an audit

committee which must comprise of at least three (3) direc-

tors, including all of the Independent Directors.

Ms. Dvora Kimhi and Mr. Ron N. Salpeter serve as the 

Independent Directors on SHL’s Board of Directors.
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Internal Organizational Structure

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the 

general policies and management of SHL. The Board 

of Directors establishes the strategic, organizational, ac-

counting and financing policies of SHL. 

The Board of Directors has all powers vested in it ac-

cording to the Israeli Companies Law and the Articles of

Association, is authorized to determine the policy of SHL

and to supervise the performance and actions of the Gen-

eral Manager, and, without derogating from the above, 

has the following powers:

– determine SHL’s plans of action, the principles for 

financing them and the order of priority among them;

– examine the financial status of SHL, and set the frame

of credit that SHL shall be entitled to acquire;

– determine the organizational structure of SHL and its

compensation policies;

– prepare and approve the financial statements of SHL;

– report to the Annual General Meeting of the status of

SHL’s affairs and of their financial outcomes;

– appoint the General Manager and terminate such ap-

pointment, in accordance with the Israeli Companies

Law;

– resolve in the matters on actions and transactions that

require its approval according to the Israeli Companies

Law and the Articles of Association;

– issue shares and convertible securities up to the total

amount of the authorized share capital of SHL, in ac-

cordance with the Israeli Companies Law.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of SHL, a quorum

at a meeting of the Board of Directors shall be constituted

by the presence in person or by telephone conference of a

majority of the directors then in office who are lawfully

entitled to participate in the meeting. Any director may

call a meeting of the Board of Directors upon a seven (7)

day notice, unless such notice has been waived by all the

directors. The notice of a meeting shall include the agenda

of the meeting. The Board of Directors may meet and ad-

journ its meetings according to SHL’s needs but at least

once in every three (3) months, and otherwise regulate

such meetings and proceedings as the directors think fit.

Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held telephoni-

cally or by any other means of communication provided

that each director participating in such meeting can hear

and be heard by all other directors participating in such

meeting. A meeting of the Board of Directors at which a

quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all the

authorities, powers and discretion vested in or exercisable

by the Board of Directors. A resolution proposed at any

meeting of the Board of Directors shall be deemed adopt-

ed if approved by a simple majority of the directors then 

in office who are lawfully entitled to participate in the

meeting and vote thereon and present when such re-

solution is put to a vote and voting thereon. The Board 

of Directors may also make resolutions by unanimous

written consents.  

The Articles of Association of SHL provide that any direc-

tor may, by written notice to SHL, appoint another person

to serve as an alternate director and may cancel such 

appointment. Any person that meets the qualifications 

of a director under the Israeli Companies Law may act 

as an alternate director. One person (1) may not act as an

alternate director for more than one (1) director, and a per-

son serving as a director of the company may not act as an 

alternate director.

Under the Israeli Companies Law a company is entitled 

to have several General Managers to be appointed by the

Board of Directors who shall be responsible for the day-to-

day operation of the company within the limits of the 

policy determined by the Board of Directors and subject 

to its directions. Office holders who are not directors are 

appointed by the General Manager who may determine

the powers and duties of such office holders.

Under the Israeli Companies Law, the same person may

not act as both Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of

the Board of Directors of a publicly traded company, un-

less the shareholders’ consent to such service, which, in

any event, may not exceed three (3) years from the date of

such approval. The service of Mr. Yoram Alroy as both

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of 

Directors was approved by the shareholders of the Com-

pany on February 2001. Since September 2003, Mr.

Yoram Alroy serves as the President and Chairman of the

Board of Director and he no longer serves as the Chief

Executive Officer of SHL. 

The Articles of Association of SHL provide that the Board

of Directors may delegate any or all of its powers to com-

mittees of the Board of Directors as it deems appropriate,

subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law.

Any committee so formed shall, in the exercise of the 

powers so delegated, conform to any regulations imposed

on it by the Board of Directors. Any such committee au-

thorized to execute the powers of the Board of Directors

shall include at least one (1) Independent Director. The

Shareholders Agreement provides that any committee of

the Board of Directors shall include one (1) of the mem-

bers of the Board of Directors nominated by the Alroy

Group, one (1) member of the Board of Directors nomi-

nated by Royal Philips Electronics and one (1) of the 

members of the Board of Directors nominated by either

Tower Holding B.V. or G.Z. Assets and Management Ltd.

Committees of the Board and Internal Auditor

As required under the Israeli Companies Law the Board of

Directors has appointed an Audit Committee. In addition,

the Board of Directors further appointed a Compensation

Committee. The Committees of the board of Directors

meet regularly and are required to make full reports 

and recommendations to the Board of Directors. Pursuant



Management Board

The following table sets forth the names and principal 

positions of those individuals who serve as members of

SHL’s management:  

Yoram Alroy, Chairman of the Board of Directors and 

President 

For additional information see Section “Members of the

Board of Directors” on page 20.

Yariv Alroy, Director and Co-CEO

For additional information see Section “Members of 

the Board of Directors” on page 20.

Erez Alroy, Co-CEO

Erez Alroy has been an executive manager of SHL since its

inception. Prior to holding his current position of Co-CEO,

he served as the Co-President, and as the General Manager

of SHL’s operation in Israel, prior to that he has served as

SHL’s Sales Manager and Vice President of Marketing in

Israel. Mr. Alroy is also a director of Shahal Haifa, Shahal

Rishon, STI and Raytel. Nationality: Israeli.

Erez Termechy, Chief Financial Officer 

Erez Termechy has served as SHL’s CFO since 1994. He is

a certified public accountant (CPA) in Israel, and holds a

BA in economics and accounting from Ben-Gurion Uni-

versity, Israel. Prior to joining SHL he worked as a CPA

and controller in diverse fields. Mr. Termechy is a member

on the Board of Managers of PHTS. Nationality: Israeli.  

Irit Alroy, Executive Vice President and CTO

Irit Alroy who serves as an Executive Vice President and

Chief Technology Officer of SHL has served as SHL’s 

Manager of Information Technology since its start of opera-

tions. Ms. Alroy serves as an Executive Vice President and
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Name Nationality Position

Yoram Alroy Israeli Chairman of the Board of Directors 

and President 

Yariv Alroy Israeli Director, Co-CEO

Erez Alroy Israeli Co-CEO

Erez Termechy Israeli Chief Financial Officer

Irit Alroy Israeli Executive Vice President and CTO

Erez Nachtomy Israeli Executive Vice President

Yoshida Katz Japanese Executive Vice President

Ronen Gadot Israeli Executive Vice President

Bruce A. Reese American President and CEO – 

Raytel Cardiac Services

Swapan Sen American President and CEO – 

Raytel Diagnostic Services

Ronen Elad Israeli General Manager of Operations 

in Israel 

Arie Roth Israeli Chief Medical Manager

to the Israeli Companies Law, the Board of Directors also 

appointed an internal auditor proposed by the Audit 

Committee. 

Audit Committee – Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law

the Audit Committee must be comprised of at least three

(3) directors, including all of the Independent Directors.

The audit committee may not include the chairman of the

Board of Directors, a controlling shareholder, its relative,

or any director who is employed by the company or pro-

vides services to the company on a regular basis. Cur-

rently, the Audit Committee is composed of the following

members: Mr. Colin Schachat, Ms. Dvora Kimhi, Mr. Ron

N. Salpeter and Mr. Omri Levin. The role of the audit com-

mittee is to examine flaws in the business management of

the company, in consultation with the internal auditor and

the independent accountants, and to propose remedial

measures to the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee

also reviews for approval transactions between the com-

pany and office holders or interested parties.

Compensation Committee – The Board of Directors has

appointed a Compensation Committee composed of the

following members: Ms. Dvora Kimhi, Mr. Colin Schachat

and Mr. Tom Egelund. The Compensation Committee 

was appointed by the Board of Directors for the purpose 

of referring to it for its recommendations to the Board 

of Directors all matters regarding the compensation and

terms of employment of any of SHL’s controlling share-

holders who are employed by the Company.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of SHL, the Com-

mittees conform to any regulations imposed on it by the

Board of Directors. The meetings and proceedings of any

such Committee are, mutatis mutandis, governed by the

provisions contained in the Articles of Association of SHL

for regulating the meetings of the Board of Directors, so

far as not superseded by any regulations adopted by the

Board of Directors.

Internal Auditor – The Board of Directors has appointed an

Internal Auditor, upon the recommendation of the Audit

Committee. The role of the Internal Auditor is to examine,

among other things, whether SHL’s activities comply with

the law and orderly business procedure. Pursuant to the

Israeli Companies Law, the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors or the Chairman of the Audit Committee may

order the Internal Auditor to conduct an internal audit on

matters where an urgent need for examination arose.
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CTO. Prior to that Ms. Alroy held different positions in the

field of IT development. Ms. Alroy has a BSc from the 

Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel. Nationality: Israeli.  

Erez Nachtomy, Executive Vice President

Erez Nachtomy joined SHL in March 2001 as an Executive

Vice President. Before joining SHL Mr. Nachtomy served

as a senior partner (Corporate and M&A) in one of 

the leading law firms in Israel. Mr. Nachtomy holds 

an LLB from the University of Tel-Aviv, Israel. Mr.

Nachtomy is a director of Bikurofe. Nationality: Israeli.

Yoshida Katz, Executive Vice President

Yoshida Katz has joined SHL on May 2002 as Executive

Vice President for Business Development. Prior to his posi-

tion at SHL, Mr. Katz served as Vice President for Business

Development for Viven Ltd., an Israeli software house,

specializing in mobile communication. Before that, Mr.

Katz served in several senior positions in software com-

panies in Israel. Yoshida Katz holds an MSc in Economics

from the University of London, and a BA in Economics from

Waseda University in Tokyo, Japan. Nationality: Japanese.

Ronen Gadot, Executive Vice President

Ronen Gadot joined SHL on September 2003 as an Exec-

utive Vice President for Business Development. Before 

joining SHL Mr. Gadot served as a Director of Business

Development and Venturing of Philips Electronics, and

started and managed the Philips Venture Capital Fund 

activity in Israel. Prior to joining Philips Mr. Gadot held

several operations and marketing management positions

in US Silicon Valley companies. Mr. Gadot holds a BSc in

Industrial Engineering, and an MBA from INSEAD in

Fontainebleau, France. Nationality: Israeli.

Bruce A. Reese, President and CEO – Raytel Cardiac 

Services 

Bruce Reese started with Raytel Cardiac Services in April

2002. Prior to joining Raytel Cardiac Services, he was a

Vice President with Philips Medical Systems, and he has

held senior management positions with Hewlett Packard

and Agilent Technologies. Bruce Reese has an MBA from

Michigan State University. Nationality: American.

Swapan Sen, President and CEO – Raytel Diagnostic 

Services

Swapan Sen has worked for Raytel Medical Corporation

for seventeen (17) years and in 2002 was appointed Chief

Executive Officer of Raytel Diagnostic Services. Prior to

his current position, Swapan Sen was the COO/President

at Raytel. Before joining Raytel, Swapan Sen worked at the

University of Pennsylvania for eight (8) years. In addition

to a BSc in Biology, Mr. Sen holds an MSc in Healthcare

Administration. Mr. Sen is also involved with many pro-

fessional/scientific societies in the field of Diagnostic 

Imaging. Nationality: American.

Ronen Elad, General Manager of operations in Israel

Ronen Elad was appointed General Manager of operations

in Israel in February 2001. Before joining SHL Mr. Elad 

founded and acted as General Manager of Rom-Phone, an

Israeli emergency systems manufacturer and development

company. Mr. Elad has also served as CEO of Marlam 

Medical Services for four (4) years. Mr. Elad is a director of

Bikurofe. Nationality: Israeli.

Prof. Arie Roth, MD, Chief Medical Manager

Prof. Arie Roth has served as SHL’s Chief Medical Manager

since its start of operations. Prof. Roth is a senior member

of the department of cardiology at the Tel-Aviv Sourasky

Medical Center, University of Tel-Aviv, Israel, and received

a medical degree from the Sacler School of Medicine of the

University of Tel-Aviv, Israel. Nationality: Israeli. 

Management Contracts

SHL has not entered into management contracts with

third parties, except as set forth below:

In March 2001, SHL has entered into a management 

contract with Erez Nachtomy, pursuant to which Mr.

Nachtomy is to provide SHL with services as an Executive

Vice President. The aforesaid management contract may

be terminated be either party, at any time, by providing the

other party ninety (90) days prior written notice.

In January 1990, SHL has entered into a management

contract with Prof. Arie Roth, pursuant to which Prof.

Roth is to provide SHL with services as Chief Medical 

Manager. The initial term of the aforesaid management

contract was for a period of two (2) years and it is there-

after renewable for additional periods of one (1) year each,

unless either party thereto provides the other party with

six (6) months advance written notice of its wish not to 

renew the management contract as aforesaid.

On September 21, 2003, Mr. Yoram Alroy’s employment

agreement with the Company has terminated. Following

such termination, SHL entered into a management ser-

vices agreement with a company wholly owned by Mr.

Yoram Alroy (the “Service Provider”), pursuant to which

the Service Provider, through Mr. Alroy exclusively, shall

provide SHL with management and consulting services 

as the President of SHL. The terms and provisions of the 

management agreement with the Service Provider were

approved by the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors

and the General Meeting of the Shareholders of SHL. 

The total compensation payable by SHL with respect to the

year under review pursuant to the aforesaid Management

Contracts is included in the figure cited in the first para-

graph of the Section “Compensation for Acting Members

of Governing Bodies”, on page 25.
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Compensations, Shareholdings and Loans

Content and Method of Determining the Compensation

and of the Shareholding Programs

Members of the Board of Directors, except for the Inde-

pendent Directors, do not receive remuneration, in their

capacity as such. The Independent Directors of SHL are

entitled to compensation as provided under the Israeli

Companies Law and the regulations promulgated pur-

suant thereto.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of SHL, the salaries

and emoluments of the executives of SHL are determined

by the Chief Executive Officers. Notwithstanding the afore-

said, pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, the compen-

sation to be paid to the directors as such, as well as the

terms of employment of any of the directors in any other

position, and the engagement of a controlling shareholder

as an office holder or employee, require the approval of the

Audit Committee, the Board of Directors and the share-

holders. Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, approval

by the shareholders of the engagement of a controlling

shareholder as an office holder or employee requires 

either: (i) the majority vote in favor of the resolution shall

include the consent of at least one-third (1/3) of the share-

holders’ voting power represented at the meeting in per-

son or by proxy and voting thereon who have no personal

interest in approving the resolution (not including ab-

staining votes), or (ii) the total shares of the shareholders

who have no personal interest in approving the resolution

voted against the resolution do not represent more than

one (1) percent of the voting rights in the company. 

The grant of Options to employees, directors and con-

sultants of SHL and its subsidiaries is in the sole discretion

of the Board of Directors. Notwithstanding the aforesaid,

should such Options be granted to the directors or any of

the controlling shareholders as part of their compensation,

such grant shall require the approval of the Audit Commit-

tee, the Board of Directors and the shareholders. Pursuant

to the Israeli Companies Law, the qualified majority de-

scribed above with respect to the approval by the share-

holders of the engagement of a controlling shareholder as

an office holder or employee is also required for the ap-

proval by the shareholders of the grant of Options to the

controlling shareholders as part of their compensation.

As mentioned above, all matters regarding the compen-

sation and terms of employment of any of SHL’s control-

ling shareholders who are employed by the Company, 

are referred to the Compensation Committee for its re-

commendations to the Board of Directors.

Compensation for Acting Members of Governing Bodies

The total of all compensation (including all employer con-

tribution into pension funds, managers insurance, other

social benefit payments and national insurance payments)

which is payable to the executive members of the Board of

Directors and the Management amounted in the financial

year 2003 to approximately USD 2,673,568. The aforesaid

sum includes the total compensation payable by SHL with

respect to the year under review pursuant to the Manage-

ment Contracts set forth in Section “Management Con-

tracts” on page 24. The exchange rate of one (1) USD to

New Israeli Shekels on December 31, 2003, was 4.379.

The total of all compensation payable to the non-

executive members of the Board of Directors amounted in

the financial year 2003 to approximately USD 20,120. The

exchange rate of one (1) USD to New Israeli Shekels on

December 31, 2003, was 4.379.

In the financial year 2003, no severance payments were

paid to non-executive members of the Board of Directors

or members of the Management who gave up their func-

tions during the year under review.

Compensation for Former Members of 

Governing Bodies

One (1) non-executive director gave up his functions dur-

ing to the year under review. The aforesaid non-executive 

director did not receive any compensation during the year

under review.

No executive member of the Board of Directors gave up

his or her functions as an executive member of the Board

of Directors during the year under review.

Share Allotment in the Year under Review

No Ordinary Shares of SHL were allotted to the executive

members of the Board of Directors, or of the Management

or parties closely linked to any such person during the year

under review.

No Ordinary Shares of SHL were allotted to the non-exec-

utive members of the Board of Directors or parties closely

linked to any such person during the year under review.

Share Ownership

The number of Ordinary Shares held, pursuant to the

Share Register, as of December 31, 2003, by the executive

members of the Board of Directors and the other mem-

bers of the Management and parties closely linked to such

persons amounted in aggregate to 1,974,840.

Elon Shalev, a non-executive member of the Board of 

Directors, is a member of the Alroy Group. The Alroy

Group holds, pursuant to the Share Register, as of Decem-

ber 31, 2003, an aggregate of 1,974,840 Ordinary Shares.

Ziv Carthy, a non-executive member of the Board of Direc-

tors is a controlling shareholder of G.Z. Assets and Man-

agement Ltd., that holds, pursuant to the Share Register,

as of December 31, 2003, an aggregate of 921,533 Ordinary

Shares. No other non-executive member of the Board of

Directors and parties closely linked to such person holds,

pursuant to the Share Register, as of December 31, 2003,

Ordinary Shares. 
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Share Options

The number of Options pursuant to the Option Plans held,

as of December 31, 2003, by the executive members of the

Board of Directors and the other members of the Manage-

ment and parties closely linked to such persons amounted

in aggregate to 249,994 Options. For additional infor-

mation with respect to share option plans adopted by SHL

and the grant of options to purchase Ordinary Shares, see

Section “Share Options” on page 16 above.

No Options pursuant to the Option Plans are held, as of 

December 31, 2003, by the non-executive members of 

the Board of Directors and parties closely linked to such

persons. 

Additional Honorariums and Remuneration

None of the members of the Board of Directors and the

Management or parties closely linked to such persons

have billed honorariums or other remuneration in the 

financial year 2003 to SHL or to any of its subsidiaries 

for additional services performed during the year under

review which reach or exceed half of the ordinary remune-

ration of the member in question. Two (2) persons closely

linked to the members of the Board of Directors and the

Management are employees of SHL, with market standard

employment agreements. Such persons’ total remune-

ration in the year under review amounted to approxi-

mately USD 57,160. The exchange rate of one (1) USD to

New Israeli Shekels on December 31, 2003, was 4.379.

Loan Granted to Governing Bodies

No guarantees, outstanding loans, advances or credits

were granted during the year under review by SHL and its

subsidiaries to executive members of the Board of Direc-

tors, members of the Management or parties closely 

linked to such persons.

No guarantees, outstanding loans, advances or credits

were granted during the year under review by SHL and its

subsidiaries to non-executive members of the Board of 

Directors or parties closely linked to such persons. 

Highest Total Compensation

The highest total compensation (including all employer’s

contribution into pension funds, managers insurance,

other social benefit payments and national insurance 

payments) payable to an executive member of the Board of

Directors and the Management amounted in the year 

under review to approximately USD 595,744. The ex-

change rate of one (1) USD to New Israeli Shekels on 

December 31, 2003, was 4.379.

SHL has not issued any Ordinary Shares or Options to

such executive member of the Board of Directors and the

Management during the financial year 2003. 

The highest total compensation payable to a non-executive

member of the Board of Directors amounted in the year

under review to approximately USD 11,435. The exchange

rate of one (1) USD to New Israeli Shekels on December

31, 2003, was 4.379.

SHL has not issued any Ordinary Shares or Options to

such non-executive member of the Board of Directors 

during the financial year 2003. 

Shareholders’ Participation Rights

Voting Rights’ Restrictions and Representations

Holders of Ordinary Shares have one (1) vote for each 

Ordinary Share held on all matters submitted to a vote of

shareholders. According to the SNOC Agreement each

person registered in the SAG Register is entitled to vote

the number of shares registered on his name in the SAG 

Register. The voting rights may be affected by the grant of

any special voting rights to the holders of a class of shares

with preferential rights if authorized in the future, such an

authorization requires a majority of sixty-six (66) percent

of the voting power present at the General Meeting. The

quorum required for any meeting of shareholders is at

least two (2) shareholders present in person or by proxy

who together hold or represent at least thirty-three and

one third (331/3) percent of the outstanding share capital.

A meeting adjourned for lack of a quorum is adjourned to

the same day in the following week at the same time and

place or any time and place as the chairman may designate

with the consent of a majority of the voting power present

and voting on the question of adjournment. At the re-

convened meeting, the required quorum consists of any

two (2) shareholders present in person or by proxy, regard-

less of the number of Ordinary Shares represented.

Under SHL’s Articles of Association all resolutions sub-

mitted to the shareholders, unless provided for other-

wise in the Articles of Association of SHL or under any 

applicable law, shall be deemed adopted if approved by 

the holders of a simple majority of the voting power re-

presented at the meeting in person or by proxy and voting 

thereon. For resolutions that require special majority, see

next Section “Statutory Quorums”. 

Statutory Quorums

The following resolutions require a special majority of

sixty-six (66) percent of the voting power represented at the

shareholders meeting: (a) increase of authorized share capi-

tal; and (b) creation of shares with special rights or modifi-

cations of share rights. Furthermore, under Israeli law and

under SHL’s Articles of Association a voluntary winding-

up would require a majority of seventy-five (75) percent of

the voting power represented at the shareholders’ meeting.
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Convocation of the General Meeting of Shareholders

Under SHL’s Articles of Association, an Annual General

Meeting shall be held once in every calendar year at such

time (within a period of not more than fifteen [15] months

after the last preceding Annual General Meeting) and at

such place either within or without the State of Israel as

may be determined by the Board of Directors. All General

Meetings other than Annual General Meetings are called

“Special General Meetings”.

Not less than twenty-one (21) days’ prior notice shall be 

given to any General Meeting and shall be published in

one newspaper in Israel and in one newspaper in Switzer-

land or in accordance with the rules and regulations of 

the stock exchange on which SHL’s shares are listed. In

addition, SHL and SAG will, pursuant to an agreement

between SHL and SAG, take all necessary steps to ensure

that notices will be sent to the persons registered in the

SAG Register. Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, the

notice of the General Meeting shall include the agenda. 

Agenda

Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, the agenda at a

General Meeting shall be determined by the Board of 

Directors. One (1) or more shareholders who hold no less

than one (1) percent of the voting rights at the General

Meeting, may request that the Board of Directors include 

a subject on the agenda of a General Meeting that will 

be convened in the future, on condition that the subject 

is suitable for discussion at a General Meeting. At a 

General Meeting resolution may be adopted only on sub-

jects that were specified in the agenda for the particular

General Meeting.

Registration in the Share Register

The shareholders entitled to participate in and to vote at a

General Meeting, or to express consent to or dissent from

any corporate action in writing, shall be the shareholders

on the date set in the resolution of the Board of Directors

to convene the General Meeting, such date shall not be

earlier than twenty-one (21) days prior the date of the 

General Meeting and not later than four (4) days prior to

the date of such General Meeting, or different periods as

shall be permitted by applicable law. A determination of

shareholders of record with respect to a General Meeting

shall apply to any adjournment of such a General Meeting.

Changes of Control and Defense Measures 

Duty to Make an Offer 

Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Swiss Stock

Exchange Act, any person who by acquiring exceeds the

threshold of thirty-three and one third (331/3) percent of

the voting rights (whether exercisable or not) of a Swiss

company whose shares are listed on the SWX Swiss

Exchange, such person must make a mandatory offer to

acquire all other shares. Since SHL is not incorporated 

in Switzerland, SHL believes that these provisions do 

not apply. However, it cannot be excluded that the Swiss 

securities supervisory authority or Swiss courts could rule

that such mandatory bid rules should apply depending on

the circumstances surrounding a particular transaction.

For the provisions of the Israeli law, please see below. Pur-

suant to the Listing Agreement, SHL agreed to comply, to

the extent possible, with procedural rules and will accept

recommendations issued by the Swiss Takeover Board. 

SHL’s Articles of Association do not contain provisions 

regarding opting out or opting up. 

Under the Israeli Companies Law an acquisition of shares

in a public company must be made by a means of a special

tender offer if as a result of the acquisition the purchaser

would become a twenty-five (25) percent shareholder, un-

less there is already a twenty-five (25) percent shareholder.

Similarly, an acquisition of shares must be made by means

of a tender offer if as a result of the acquisition the pur-

chaser would become a forty-five (45) percent shareholder,

unless there is already a shareholder holding more than

fifty (50) percent of the voting rights in a company. These

tender offer provisions shall not apply to SHL if the rules

of the foreign country contain mandatory bid provisions.

In any event, if as result of an acquisition of shares the 

acquirer will hold more than ninety (90) percent of a com-

pany’s shares, the acquisition must be made by means of a

tender offer for all of the shares. If more than ninety-five

(95) percent of the outstanding shares are tendered in 

the tender offer, all the shares that the acquirer offered to

purchase will be transferred to it. 

Clauses on Changes of Control

There are no clauses on changes of control in agreements

and plans benefiting members of the Board of Directors

and/or members of the Management and/or other mem-

bers of SHL’s cadre. 
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Auditors

Duration of the Mandate and Term of Office 

of the Head Auditor

Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a member firm of Ernst &

Young, Tel-Aviv, Israel, are the auditors of SHL since 1997.

Under the Israeli Companies Law and SHL’s Articles 

of Association, the auditors of SHL are appointed by re-

solution of the Annual General Meeting and serve until

their reelection, removal or replacement by subsequent 

resolution. SHL’s auditors were last reappointed at the

2003 Annual General Meeting. 

Since 1997 Mr. Chen Shein (CPA) is the head auditor 

within Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer responsible for the

auditing of SHL. 

Auditing Honorariums and Additional Honorariums

Ernst & Young charged in the financial year 2003 approxi-

mately USD 175,368 for services rendered in connection

with auditing the financial statements of SHL and its sub-

sidiaries and the consolidated financial statements of SHL

Group. The exchange rate of one (1) USD to New Israeli

Shekels on December 31, 2003, was 4.379.

In addition, Ernst & Young charged approximately USD

207,586 for additional services performed for SHL Group

in the field of management consulting, tax advice, due 

diligence and other auditing activities. The aforesaid sums

include payments made to other member firms of Ernst &

Young outside of Israel. The exchange rate of one (1) USD

to New Israeli Shekels on December 31, 2003, was 4.379.

Supervisory and Control Instruments vis-a-vis the Auditors

The Board of Directors assesses the performance, com-

pensation and independence of the auditors. The Board of

Directors annually controls the extent of the external 

auditing, the auditing plans and the respective programs

and discusses the auditing results with the external 

auditors.  

Information Policy

SHL is committed to a policy of open and effective commu-

nications with customers, partners, shareholders and staff

alike. SHL’s investor relations program features regular 

publication of relevant information for the benefit of the

public and the capital markets. SHL publishes price-sen-

sitive information in accordance with the obligation to dis-

close price-sensitive facts (ad-hoc publicity) as required by

the SWX Swiss Exchange, and conducts regular communi-

cation briefings with media representatives and financial

analysts in addition to its Annual General Meeting.

SHL informs interested parties through a variety of 

corporate publications including annual and half-yearly 

reports, which can be ordered or downloaded from

www.shl-telemedicine.com. These reports feature oper-

ational reviews as well as consolidated balance sheets, 

profit & loss statements and cash flow statements as of 

December 31 and June 30 respectively. The actual share

price, press releases and presentations are also available

on the website. SHL maintains two (2) websites offering

up-to-date corporate and product information: 

www.shl-telemedicine.com and www.raytel.com.

Investor’s Calendar

Annual General Meeting April 29, 2004

Q1 Results May 24, 2004

Q2 Results August 23, 2004

Q3 Results November 24, 2004

Contact persons for Investor Relations

Erez Alroy, Co-CEO

ereza@shl-telemedicine.com

Erez Termechy, Vice President and CFO

erezt@shl-tlemedicine.com

SHL Telemedicine Ltd.

90 Igal Alon St., Tel-Aviv 67891, Israel

Tel. ++972 3 561 2212

Fax ++972 3 624 2414

Significant Changes since 
December 31, 2003

On December 23, 2003, SHL, through its subsidiaries, en-

tered into an agreement to purchase from a subsidiary of

Royal Philips Electronics the entire share capital of PHTS.

The closing of the agreement for the purchase of the 

shares of PHTS occurred on January 20, 2004, after the

approval of the transaction by the General Meeting of the

Shareholders of SHL and SHL B.V. became the holder of

the entire issued and outstanding share capital of PHTS.
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28 % Israel

72 % International

48 % Medical Services

52 % Telemedicine Services

Financial Overview 

2. Results of Operations

Revenues in 2003 totaled USD 98.8 million, a 10% increase

over the revenues in 2002 of USD 89.8 million. The increase in

revenues resulted  from the growth in international operations

resulting from the Raytel acquisition. It should be recalled that

SHL’s acquisition of Raytel took effect as of April 1, 2002. In our

home market there was a decline in revenues resulting mainly

from the weaker trading conditions which prevailed in Israel

over the past months and sales of fewer devices than in the pre-

vious year.

The Company operates in two segments:

– the telemedicine services segment which covers the provision

of telemedicine services utilizing telephonic and Internet

communication technology and the selling of related instru-

ments through direct sales or by license and

– the medical services segment which covers the operations of a

network of imaging centers and cardiac facilities that provide

diagnostic, therapeutic and patient management services pri-

marily associated with cardiovascular disease. The segment

also operates medical call centers, which provide 24-hours

doctor “house-call” services.

Revenues from the telemedicine services segment amounted to

USD 51.4 million in 2003 comprising 52% of total revenues

with revenues from the medical services segment reaching USD

47.4 million, 48% of total revenues.

Geographically, revenues from the international market

amounted to USD 71.2 million in 2003, compared to USD 57.4

million in 2002, with revenues from the local market amount-

ing to USD 27.6 million in 2003, compared to USD 32.4 million

in 2002, a decrease of 14.8%.

1. General

2003 presented a very challenging environment for us against 

a background of economic and political instability worldwide

and in our domestic market. Overall group financial perform-

ance was not satisfactory and the Company recorded a net loss

for the year.

During the year, overall revenues increased by 10% to USD 98.8

million. EBITDA and EBIT margins stood at 11.6% and 3.1% 

respectively for the 12-month period. Loss for the year was 

USD 10.2 million, while the loss per share was USD 0.96.

SHL’s US operation increased profitability following the re-

structuring which took place after the acquisition of Raytel and

which was designed to improve the efficiency and overall sales

potential of its cardiac and diagnostic services. 

With regard to our European operations, we had to make provi-

sions for PHTS losses, which together with the financial ex-

penses derived from the credit facilities we gave to PHTS, im-

pacted significantly our earnings. With the completion of the 

acquisition of PHTS from Philips in January 2004, SHL aims 

to restructure PHTS’s operations and develop its potential in the

European market.  

In its home market SHL continued to be the leader in the provi-

sion of telemedicine services and saw continued growth in sales

of services and in subscriber numbers which currently exceed

70,000. Profitability, however, was affected by the sale of fewer

devices than in the previous year. “Thin for Life”, the latest 

addition to SHL’s telemedicine services, was well received in its

first year of operation.
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Gross Profit

Gross profit in 2003 totaled USD 46.7 million compared to

USD 45.8 million in 2002, representing a 2% increase. The

gross margin for the year decreased to 47% from 51% in 2002

due primarily to the effect of the different product mix following

the growth of the international operations which increased our

revenues and profit but with lower margins and to the effect of

lower sales of devices in our home market.

Research and Development (R&D)

R&D expenditure for the year totaled USD 1.8 million, 1.8% of

revenues, compared to USD 1.7 million, 1.9% of revenues, in

2002. The amount of R&D charged to the statement of oper-

ations for 2003, which reflects  the capitalization and amorti-

zation of the R&D investment over the years amounted to USD

0.67 million, compared to USD 0.42 million in 2002.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses totaled USD 10.2 million,

10.3% of revenues in 2003, compared to USD 7.0 million and

7.8% of revenues in 2002. The increase in selling and market-

ing expenses is attributed primarily to the first year of  full con-

solidation of Raytel’s operations.

General and Administration Expenses (G&A)

G&A expenses totaled USD 32.7 million, 33.1% of revenues 

in 2003, compared to USD 26.7 million and 29.7% of revenues

in 2002. The increase in the amount of G&A expenses is also 

attributed primarily to the first year of  full consolidation of 

Raytel’s operations.

Earnings before Income Tax, Depreciation and Amortization

(EBITDA), Earnings before Income Tax (EBIT) 

EBITDA for the year amounted to USD 11.4 million, 11.6% 

of revenues, compared to USD 18.1 million and 20.1% of 

revenues in 2002. EBIT decreased to USD 3.1 million, 3.1% of

revenues, compared to USD 11.7 million and 13.0% of revenues

in 2002.

This decrease in profitability resulted mainly from the lower

sales of devices in our home market and from the expenses and

provisions we made due to the European activities.

Financial Expenses

Financial expenses for the year amounted to USD 4.7 million

against gains of USD 1.8 million in 2002 and represent one of

the major causes in the reduction of the Company’s net income

compared to the previous year. This reduction was caused by the

utilization of cash resources mainly for the Raytel acquisition,

lower interest rates and effect of the devaluation of the USD

against the EUR. 

Taxes on Income

Taxes on income amounted to USD 1.0 million compared to

USD 3.2 million in 2002. The decrease in taxes on income is

due to the decline in profit before tax.

Share in Losses and Provision 

against Shareholders’ Loan to Associate

In 2003 the Company made a provision of USD 5.6 million

(USD 7.4 million in 2002), against its loan to Philips Heart-

Care Telemedicine Services representing the extent of the Com-

pany’s share in the losses associated with the expenses of 

the joint venture prior to its acquisition by the Company at the

beginning of 2004.

Net Loss

Net loss for the year amounted to USD 10.2 million, reflecting

the events described above compared to the net profit of USD

1.4 million in 2002. 

Losses per share totaled USD 0.96 compared to earnings of

USD 0.13 in 2002.
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3. Deferred Revenues

Revenues from services are recognized ratably over customers’

service contracts.

At the end of December 2003, we have around USD 90 million

of signed long term service contracts not included in our 

balance sheet, to be recognized as revenues in future years.

4. Major Changes in Assets, 
Liabilities and Equity

At December 31, 2003, our current assets stood at USD 75.2 mil-

lion compared to USD 97.8 million at year-end 2002, of which

USD 26.1 million represent cash and marketable securities 

balances. The main reason for the decrease is the decline in cash

balances due to the funds required for capital investments and

repayment of loans made during the year.

Our long-term and fixed assets totaled USD 69.4 million com-

pared to USD 58.8 million at the end of the previous year. The

main reasons for this increase are the increase in long-term 

deposits and in postdated notes derived from sales of devices 

in the local market and purchase of fixed assets.

Other assets also increased to USD 51.9 million compared to

USD 51.3 million at the end of 2002, mainly due to the increase

in R&D.

As a result, our total assets at the end of December 2003 totaled

USD 196.4 million compared to USD 207.9 million at Decem-

ber 2002.

Current liabilities at December 31, 2003, amounted to USD 67.8

million compared to USD 71.1 million at year-end 2002. Of this

amount, bank credit lines utilized at the end of the year

amounted to USD 46.9 million compared to USD 47.6 million

in 2002. The main reason for the decrease in current liabilities

is the payment for acquisition of shares from former Raytel

shareholders regarding the acquisition of Raytel.

Total equity at the end of 2003 amounted to USD 86.1 million

compared to USD 90.5 million at the end of 2002. This de-

crease resulted from the net loss for the year partially offset by

the positive effect of the devaluation of the USD against the NIS

on the translated share and paid-in capital.

At December 31, 2003, equity represents some 44.0% of the 

total assets of the Company, 

5. Cash Flow Movement

In 2003, we generated, positive cash flow from operating activi-

ties in an amount of USD 0.6 million compared to positive cash

flow of USD 2.2 million in 2002. This decrease derived only

from the negative effect of exchange rate differences on our cash

balances and from the decrease in profits.

The Company’s investment activities included USD 5 million, 

in acquiring additional Raytel shares, USD 3 million in the joint

venture with Philips and USD 5.5 million in other capital expen-

diture and other assets.

During the year the Company repaid  bank and other loans of

USD 10.2 million.

At year-end 2003 we held USD 30.3 million in cash, marketable

securities and long-term deposits against USD 51.8 million, at

year-end 2002.

Erez Termechy

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Auditors’ Report to the shareholders of SHL TeleMedicine Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying 

consolidated balance sheets of SHL

TeleMedicine Ltd. and its consolidated

companies (the Group) as of December

31, 2003 and 2002, and the related con-

solidated statements of operations,

changes in shareholders’ equity and cash

flows for each of the three years in the pe-

riod ended December 31, 2003. These

consolidated financial statements are the

responsibility of the Group’s manage-

ment. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these consolidated financial

statements based on our audits.

We did not audit the financial state-

ments of an associate, the investment in

which on the equity basis of accounting

totaled nil and USD 2 million as of 

December 31, 2003 and 2002, respec-

tively, and the Group’s share in losses

and provision against shareholders’ loan

totaled USD 5.6 million and USD 7.4

million for the years ended December 31,

2003 and 2002, respectively. These 

financial statements were audited by

other auditors whose report has been

furnished to us, and our opinion, inso-

far as it relates to data included for this 

certain associate, is based solely on the

report of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance

with International Standards on Audit-

ing. Those Standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-

sonable assurance about whether the

consolidated financial statements are

free of material misstatement. An audit

includes examining, on a test basis, 

evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the consolidated financial

statements. An audit also includes as-

sessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by man-

agement, as well as evaluating the over-

all financial statement presentation. We

believe that our audit provides a reason-

able basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and

the report of the other auditors, the con-

solidated financial statements referred to

above give a true and fair view of the con-

solidated financial position of the Group

as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and

of the results of its operations and its

cash flows for each of the three years in

the period ended December 31, 2003, in

accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards. 

Tel Aviv, Israel, March 18, 2004

KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER

A Member of Ernst & Young Global
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Note 2002 2003

assets
current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 36,609 17,807

Short-term deposits 4 15,210 2,896

Marketable securities 5 – 5,395

Trade receivables 6 23,649 23,206

Postdated notes 7 6,338 5,616

Prepaid expenses 8 3,664 4,944

Other accounts receivable 9 4,308 2,837

Inventory 6,085 6,192

Deferred taxes 19d 1,947 6,313

97,810 75,206

long-term assets:
Postdated notes 7 32,678 36,392

Prepaid expenses 8 11,998 14,515

Investment in associate 10 2,031 24

Long-term deposits 11 – 4,200

Deferred taxes 19d 607 1,772

47,314 56,903

fixed assets: 12

Cost 17,508 * 23,067

Less – accumulated depreciation 6,067 * 10,629

11,441 12,438

intangible assets, net: 13 51,327 51,880

207,892 196,427

* Reclassified (see Note 2s)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets US dollars in thousands 
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Note 2002 2003

liabilities and shareholders’ equity
current liabilities:
Bank credit and current maturities 14 47,559 46,865

Trade payables 15 6,375 7,589

Other accounts payable 16 17,186 13,332

71,120 67,786

long-term liabilities:
Long-term loans from banks, lease obligations and others 17 42,578 38,779

Accrued severance pay 1,474 1,446

Deferred taxes 19d 660 859

44,712 41,084

minority interest: 18g 1,601 1,427

shareholders’ equity: 22

Ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value each: 

Authorized: 14,000,000 shares at December 31, 2002 and 2003 

Issued and outstanding: 10,663,373 shares at December 31, 2002 and 2003 22 24

Additional paid-in capital 78,142 84,530

Treasury shares at cost (196) (463)

Cumulative reporting currency translation adjustments 1,913 1,656

Retained earnings 10,578 383

90,459 86,130

207,892 196,427

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

March 18, 2004
Date of approval of the financial statements

Yoram Alroy

Chairman of the Board of Directors and President

Yariv Alroy

Director and Co-CEO
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Note 2001 2002 2003

Revenues from sales of devices and services 23a 30,615 89,804 98,784

Cost of sales of devices and services 23b 10,636 44,053 52,125

Gross profit 19,979 45,751 46,659

Research and development costs, net 23c 474 415 672

Selling and marketing expenses 23d 4,106 7,005 10,195

General and administrative expenses 23e 6,367 26,676 32,722

Operating income 9,032 11,655 3,070

Financial income (expenses):

Exchange rate differences from cash deposits 5,180 4,694 (1,722)

From short-term deposits, net 1,572 344 (729)

Gain on marketable securities and derivative financial instruments, net – – 2,015

Other 1,664 (3,257) (4,269)

8,416 1,781 (4,705)

Other expenses, net 23f 150 17 24

Income (loss) before taxes on income 17,298 13,419 (1,659)

Taxes on income 19c 2,598 3,230 1,022

14,700 10,189 (2,681)

Minority interest – (1,425) (1,913)

Share in losses and provision against shareholders’ loan to associate 10 (2,644) (7,353) (5,601)

Net income (loss) 12,056 1,411 (10,195)

Net basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 24 1.13 0.13 (0.96)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Operations US dollars in thousands 
(except per share amounts)



Financial Statements

39

Balance at January 1, 2001 31 92,012 – 2,619 (2,889) 91,773

Issuance expenses – (418) – – – (418)

Reporting currency translation adjustments – – – (8,338) – (8,338)

Net income – – – – 12,056 12,056

Balance at December 31, 2001 31 91,594 – (5,719) 9,167 95,073

Treasury shares – – (196) – – (196)

Reporting currency translation adjustments

arising from first adoption of SIC-30 (7) (7,772) – 7,779 – –

Reporting currency translation adjustments (2) (5,680) – (147) – (5,829)

Net income – – – – 1,411 1,411

Balance at December 31, 2002 22 78,142 (196) 1,913 10,578 90,459

Treasury shares – – (241) – – (241)

Reporting currency translation adjustments 2 6,388 (26) (257) – 6,107

Net loss – – – – (10,195) (10,195)

Balance at December 31, 2003 24 84,530 (463) 1,656 383 86,130

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

TotalRetained 
earnings 

(accumulated 
deficit)

Cumulative 
reporting currency

translation 
adjustments

Treasury
shares

Additional 
paid-in capital

Share capital

Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Deficiency)
US dollars in thousands
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2001 2002 2003

cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) 12,056 1,411 (10,195)

Adjustments required to reconcile net income (loss) to 

net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (a) (13,243) 804 10,840

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (1,187) 2,215 645

cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in associate (144) – –

Shareholders’ loan to associate (4,839) (5,955) (3,062)

Purchase of fixed assets (1,302) (3,181) (4,396)

Payment for acquisition of consolidated company, 

net of cash acquired, and business activities (b) (7,272) (25,017) (968)

Payment of liability regarding the acquisition of Raytel (Note 3) – – (4,147)

Investment in intangible assets (1,831) (1,417) (1,143)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 663 5 53

Short-term deposits, net 13,024 (15,000) 12,109

Long-term deposits – – (4,200)

Investment in marketable securities – – (5,317)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,701) (50,565) (11,071)

cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Ordinary shares, net (837) – –

Proceeds from long-term loans from banks and others, net 119 45,154 2,190

Repayment of long-term loans from related parties (381) (142) –

Repayment of long-term loans from banks and others (3,343) (5,606) (26,043)

Short-term bank credit, net 18,902 (6,620) 15,945

Distributions to minority interest – (900) (2,087)

Treasury shares acquired – (196) (241)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 14,460 31,690 (10,236)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (4,805) (3,877) 1,860

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,767 (20,537) (18,802)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 50,379 57,146 36,609

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 57,146 36,609 17,807

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows US dollars in thousands
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2001 2002 2003

a adjustments required to reconcile net income (loss) 
to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Income and expenses not involving cash flows:

Share in losses and provision against shareholders’ loan to associate 2,644 7,353 5,601

Minority interest – 1,425 1,913

Depreciation and amortization 1,798 6,595 8,527

Amortization of goodwill, related to carryforward tax losses 

for which deferred tax benefits were not recorded in prior years 1,050 – –

Deferred taxes, net 175 236 (5,187)

Accrued severance pay 127 410 (143)

Erosion of principal of long-term liabilities, net (303) 1,159 (142)

Losses on marketable securities – – 123

Exchange rate differences from short-term and long-term deposits – – 1,120

Others 124 45 18

5,615 17,223 11,830

Changes in operating asset and liability items:

Decrease (increase) in short-term deposits, net (3,483) 3,062 (237)

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables, net (1,632) 4,961 (3,795)

Decrease (increase) in postdated notes (12,779) (12,565) 189

Increase in prepaid expenses (2,743) (3,453) (2,539)

Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable 115 (963) 1,886

Decrease (increase) in inventory (1,344) (3,031) 377

Increase (decrease) in trade payables 306 (883) 1,118

Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable 2,702 (3,547) 2,011

(18,858) (16,419) (990)

(13,243) 804 10,840

b acquisition of newly consolidated 
companies and business activities: 2001 3 2002 2 2003 1

Working capital (excluding cash) (559) (6,488) –

Long-term assets (224) (467) –

Fixed assets, net (583) (9,002) (1,288)

Long-term liabilities 1,094 22,581 –

Minority interest – 1,076 –

Goodwill upon acquisition (5,981) (37,329) (23)

Non-competition agreement (1,019) – (190)

Liability regarding the acquisition of newly consolidated company – 4,612 533

(7,272) (25,017) (968)

1 On January 1, 2003, the Company purchased business activities (see Note 1[b][2]).
2 During the second quarter of 2002, SHL TeleMedicine North America Inc. purchased all of the shares 

of Raytel Medical Corporation Inc. (see Note 3).
3 On December 31, 2001, the Company purchased all of the shares of Bikurofe Ltd. in consideration of USD 7.8 million (see Note 18d).
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c significant non-cash transactions: 2001 2002 2003

Acquisition of newly consolidated company – 4,612 –

Acquisition of business activities – – 533

d supplemental disclosure of cash flows activities: 2001 2002 2003

Interest received 2,491 2,513 1,272

Interest paid 3,202 5,756 6,061

Income taxes paid – 2,433 1,816

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements US dollars in thousands

note 1  General

a company description:
SHL TeleMedicine Ltd. (“the Company”) and its consolidated

companies (“the Group”) develop and market advanced personal

telemedicine systems as well as medical call center services to

subscribers. The Group provides remote monitoring services in

cardiology, pulmonology, and other areas. In Israel, the Com-

pany also operates and dispatches ambulances from its call cen-

ters to patients for emergency treatment. The Company sells

medical equipment and related communication equipment to

subscribers and related companies.

b acquisitions:
1. On April 1, 2002, SHL TeleMedicine North America Inc.

(“NA”), indirect wholly owned subsidiary, purchased all of the

shares of Raytel Medical Corporation Inc. (“Raytel”). Raytel is a

US leading provider of remote pacemaker monitoring and other

cardiac monitoring services. Raytel also operates outpatient di-

agnostic imaging facilities and cardiovascular and nuclear cardi-

ology diagnostic service facilities (see Note 3).

2. On January 1, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement

with Hashmira Medical Ltd. and S.Y. Protected Communities

and Nursing Ltd. (“the sellers”) for the acquisition of their rights

in their business activities in the area of distress buttons, doctor

calls services and dispatch call center services. The considera-

tion for the transaction amounted to USD 1,500 (including fixed

assets and other assets) to be paid in 18 monthly installments

linked to the Israeli CPI, out of which USD 968 was paid until

the balance sheet date.

c definitions:
In these financial statements:

The Company

SHL TeleMedicine Ltd. 

Consolidated companies

Companies whose financial statements are fully consolidated

with those of the Company.

Associate

A company over which the Company exercises significant influ-

ence and is not a consolidated company and the Company’s in-

vestment therein is presented using the equity method of ac-

counting.

The Group

SHL TeleMedicine Ltd. and its consolidated companies.

Related parties

As defined in IAS 24 of IASB.

note 2  Significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of

the financial statements are as follows:

a basis of preparation:
1. The consolidated financial statements of the Company have

been prepared in accordance with International Financial Re-

porting Standards (IFRS), which comprise standards and inter-

pretations approved by the IASB, and International Accounting

Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee interpreta-

tion approved by the IASC that remain in effect.

2. The significant accounting policies applied in the financial

statements of the Company in the prior years are applied consis-

tently in these consolidated financial statements. 

3. Financial statements in US dollars – the reporting currency:

The majority of sales of the Company that operates in Israel is

made in New Israeli Shekels (“NIS”) and the majority of the cost

is paid in NIS. The NIS is the currency of the primary economic

environment of the Company, therefore the functional currency

of the Company is the NIS.

The Company has selected the US dollar as its reporting cur-

rency, rather than using its functional currency as its reporting

currency, since an increasing portion of its revenues and ex-

penses are incurred in US dollars and the Company believes

that most of the users of its financial statements are more famil-

iar with the US dollar than the NIS.

Because the Company selected the reporting currency to be the

US dollar, the financial statements have been translated from

the functional currency (NIS) to the reporting currency, in ac-

cordance with the principles set forth in IAS 21, SIC-19 and SIC-

30 as follows:

All the assets, liabilities, share capital and additional paid-in cap-

ital of the Company are translated into US dollars at the rate of

exchange prevailing at each balance sheet date, and revenues

and expenses are translated at average monthly exchange rates.

The results from translation adjustments are recorded in a sepa-

rate component of shareholders’ equity.

Foreign Group Companies: 

Philips HeartCare Telemedicine Services Europe (“JV”), an asso-

ciate, is considered a “Foreign Entity” according to the definition

of IAS 21. The functional currency of JV is the Euro. JV prepares

its financial statements in Euro. 

SHL TeleMedicine North America (“NA”), a consolidated com-

pany, is considered a “Foreign Entity” according to IAS 21. The

functional currency of NA is the US dollar. NA prepares its fi-

nancial statements in US dollars.

The Company uses the following procedures in translating the

financial statements of “Foreign Entities” for incorporation in

the Company’s financial statements: assets and liabilities, both

monetary and non-monetary, of the foreign entity are translated

into the NIS at the rate of exchange prevailing at each balance
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sheet date, and revenues and expenses are translated at average

monthly exchange rates. All resulting exchange differences are

taken directly to equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, accumu-

lated exchange differences are recognized in the income state-

ment as a component of the gain or loss on disposal. Any good-

will arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair

value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabili-

ties arising on the acquisition of that foreign operation are

treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation. Thus

they are expressed in the functional currency of the foreign op-

eration and are translated at the closing rate.

SHL TeleMedicine B.V. (“BV”) and SHL TeleMedicine Global

Trading Ltd. (“GT”), consolidated companies, are considered

“Foreign operations that are integral of the operations of the re-

porting enterprise” according to IAS 21. The functional currency

of BV and GT is the NIS. BV and GT prepare their financial

statements in Euro.

The Company uses the following procedures in translating the

financial statements of “Foreign operations that are integral of

the operations of the reporting enterprise” for incorporation in

the Company’s financial statements: foreign currency monetary

items are translated into NIS at the rate of exchange prevailing

at each balance sheet date, non-monetary items are translated

into NIS using the rate at the date of the transaction, and rev-

enues and expenses are translated at average monthly exchange

rates. The results from translation adjustments are recognized

as income or as expenses in the period in which they arise.

The exchange rate differences of loans, which were received for

the direct financing of the investment in the foreign entities and

that are stated in or linked to the respective functional currency

of those entities are also carried within shareholders’ equity.

4. Impact of recently issued interpretation for accounting stan-

dards:

In December 2003, the International Accounting Standards

Board (“IASB”) released revised IAS 32, Financial Instruments:

Disclosure and Presentation, and IAS 39, Financial Instru-

ments: Recognition and Measurement. These standards replace

IAS 32 (revised 2000), and supersede IAS 39 (revised 2000),

and should be applied for annual periods beginning on or after

January 1, 2005. The amendments are not expected to have a

material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial state-

ments. 

In December 2003, as a part of the IASB’s project to improve In-

ternational Accounting Standards, the IASB released revisions

to the following standards that supersede the previously re-

leased versions of those standards: IAS 1, Presentation of Finan-

cial Statements; IAS 2, Inventories; IAS 8, Accounting Policies,

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors; IAS 10, Events af-

ter Balance Sheet Date; IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment;

IAS 17, Leases; IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Ex-

change Rates; IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures; IAS 27, Con-

solidated and Separate Financial Statements; IAS 28, Invest-

ments in Associates; IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures; IAS 33,

Earnings per Share; and IAS 40, Investment Property. The re-

vised standards should be applied for annual periods beginning

on or after January 1, 2005. The amendments are not expected to

have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements. 

On February 19, 2004, the IASB issued International Financial

Reporting Standard 2, Share-Based Payment (IFRS 2), on the ac-

counting for share-based payment transactions, including

grants of share options to employees. IFRS 2 requires an entity

that follows IAS to recognize the effect of share-based payment

transactions in the financial statements based on the awards’

fair value. IFRS 2 will be effective for annual periods beginning

on or after January 1, 2005, and will apply to grants of shares,

share options or other equity instruments that were granted af-

ter November 7, 2002, and had not yet vested at the effective

date. The adoption of this standard will not have a material ef-

fect on the Company’s financial position and results of opera-

tions. 

b principles of consolidation:
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of

the Company and its consolidated companies. Significant inter-

company transactions and balances between the Company and

its consolidated companies were eliminated in consolidation.

Consolidated companies are consolidated from the date on

which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consol-

idated from the date on which control is transferred out of the

Group. Acquisition of consolidated companies is accounted for

using the purchase method of accounting.

The financial statements of consolidated companies are pre-

pared for the same reporting periods as the parent company, us-

ing consistent accounting policies.

The consolidated statement of operations and consolidated cash

flow statement in 2002 include the results and cash flows of

Raytel for the 9-month period from purchase on April 1, 2002.

Minority interest represents the interests in Raytel’s investment

in several entities, not held by the group.

c investment in associate:
Investments in an associate over which the Company exercises

significant influence, are accounted for under the equity method

of accounting.

The Company’s investment in the associate consists of a 19.9%

ownership interest in Philips HeartCare Telemedicine Services

Europe (“JV”).

The Company’s equity in losses of the associate is included up

to the amount of the investment in the capital of the associate.

d cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand

and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three

months or less.
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i fixed assets:
1. Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method on the

basis of the estimated useful life of the asset. The carrying

amounts are reviewed at each balance sheet date to assess

whether they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amounts,

and where carrying values exceed this estimated recoverable

amount, assets are written down to their recoverable amount.

Capital leases are recorded at the present value of the future

minimum lease payments and the underlying assets are amor-

tized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.

2. The annual depreciation rates are as follows: 

%

Computers and communication equipment 15 – 33

Medical equipment 10 – 15

Office furniture and equipment 6 – 15

Motor vehicles and ambulances 15 – 20

Over the shorter of the term 

Leasehold improvements of the lease or the useful life

Leased devices 10

j intangible assets:
1. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, ex-

cept for development costs which relate to the design and testing

of new or improved products which are recognized as an asset to

the extent that it is expected that such assets will generate future

economic benefits.

Deferred development costs are amortized from the date of

commercial production of the product. Such costs are amortized

using the straight-line method over a period of up to 5 years.

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there

is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,

the recoverable amount is estimated.

2. Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair

value of identifiable net assets of a consolidated company at the

date of acquisition. Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line

method over its useful economic life up to a presumed maxi-

mum of 20 years. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment when

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

value may not be recoverable. Goodwill is stated at cost less ac-

cumulated amortization and any impairment in value.

Tax benefits as a result of tax losses from the time in which the

investment was acquired, and which could not be taken into ac-

count in order to determine the amount for goodwill, are recog-

nized on an ongoing basis at the time in which a tax benefit is

utilized, and the balance for goodwill is adjusted accordingly.

3. Non-competition agreement is amortized using the straight-

line method over the useful life, which is 3 years.

e inventory:
Inventory of devices is presented at the lower of cost or net real-

izable value. Cost is determined using the “first-in, first-out”

method.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary

course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

f trade receivables and postdated notes:
Trade receivables are recognized and carried at original invoice

amount less an allowance for doubtful accounts.

Postdated notes that are linked to the Israeli CPI and do not bear

interest, are presented at their present value, according to the

market interest rate prevailing on the date on which they were

issued.

g financial instruments:
1. Marketable securities and derivative financial instruments:

Under IAS 39, the Group classifies its investments in mar-

ketable debt and equity securities and investments in unlisted

equity securities into the following categories: held-to-maturity,

trading or available-for-sale, depending on the purpose for ac-

quiring the investments. As of December 31, 2003, all mar-

ketable investments of the Group were classified as available-

for-sale. Available-for-sale investments are fair valued by using

quoted market rates. The fair value changes of available-for-sale

investments are recognized to the statements of operations at

each reporting period. 

The Group classified all foreign exchange options as held for

trading. The changes in the fair values of these options are re-

ported in the statement of operations accounts.

During 2003, the Group entered into a combination of foreign

exchange options that comprise a zero-cost dollar. Such options

expired during 2003 and resulted a gain in the amount of USD

2,066 that was reported as financial income in the statement of

operations.

As of December 31, 2003, the Group has no option contracts or

other freestanding financial derivatives.

2. Fair value of other financial instruments:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term

deposits, trade receivables, postdated notes, other accounts re-

ceivable, credit from banks and others, trade payables, other ac-

counts payable and long-term loans approximate their fair value.

h prepaid expenses:
Prepaid expenses, which are related to cost of sales of services,

are amortized in the statement of operations, over the service

contract.
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k deferred taxes:
1. Deferred taxes are provided using the liability method for tem-

porary differences at balance sheet date between the tax bases of

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial re-

porting purposes. The main components in respect of which de-

ferred taxes have been included are as follows: inventory, fixed

assets, intangible assets, provision for vacation, accrued sever-

ance pay, doubtful accounts and carryforward tax losses. The car-

rying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance

sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable

that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part

of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates

that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized

or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that

have been enacted or subsequently enacted at balance sheet date.

2. Taxes that would apply in the event of the realization of in-

vestments in subsidiaries have not been taken into account in

computing the deferred taxes, as it is the Company’s intention

to hold these investments. Similarly, taxes that would apply in

the event of the distribution of earnings by subsidiaries as divi-

dends have not been taken into account in computing deferred

taxes, when the distribution of dividend does not involve an ad-

ditional tax liability or when the Company decided not to distrib-

ute dividends that will cause additional tax liability.

l  revenue recognition:
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the

economic rewards will pass to the Company and the revenue

can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition cri-

teria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

1. Revenues from sales of devices are recognized when the sig-

nificant risks and benefits of ownership of the devices have

passed to the buyer.

2. Revenues from services are recognized ratably over the ser-

vice contract.

m exchange rates and linkage basis:
1. Assets and liabilities in or linked to foreign currency are in-

cluded in the financial statements according to the representa-

tive exchange rate as published by the Bank of Israel on Decem-

ber 31, 2003.

2. Assets and liabilities linked to the Israeli CPI are included in

the financial statements according to the relevant index for each

asset or liability.

Data regarding Israeli CPI and exchange rate of foreign currency:

For the year ended Exchange rate of Israeli CPI *
one US dollar

December 31, 2003 NIS 4.379 178.6 points

December 31, 2002 NIS 4.737 182.0 points

December 31, 2001 NIS 4.416 170.9 points

Changes during the year

2003 (7.6)% (1.9)%

2002 7.3% 6.5%

* Index on an average basis of 1993 = 100.

n use of estimates:
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with gen-

erally accepted accounting principles requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts re-

ported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Ac-

tual results could differ from those estimates.

o concentrations of credit risk:
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to

concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash

equivalents and trade receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are

deposited with major banks. Management believes that the fi-

nancial institutions that hold the Company’s investments are fi-

nancially sound, and, accordingly, minimal credit risk exists

with respect to these investments. 

The Company’s trade receivables and postdated notes are mainly

derived from sales to customers in Israel and the USA. The

Company has adopted credit policies and standards intended to

accommodate industry growth and inherent risk. Management

believes that credit risks are moderated by the diversity of its end

customers and geographic sales areas. The Company performs

ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition

and requires collateral as deemed necessary. An estimate for

doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no

longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified.

p accrued severance pay:
The Group’s liability for severance pay for Israeli resident em-

ployees is calculated pursuant to Israeli severance pay law based

on the most recent salary of the employees multiplied by the

number of years of employment as of the balance sheet date.

The Group’s liability for all of its employees is funded through

insurance policies. The net amount of the severance liability pre-

sented in the balance sheet represents the Group liability for

severance to its employees as of balance sheet date.

The amounts accumulated in managers’ insurance policies in

the name of the employees and their respective liabilities are not

presented in the balance sheet since they are not under the

Group’s control and management.

Amounts paid to insurance policies for covering severance pay

liability for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003,

was USD 419, USD 619 and USD 594, respectively.

The number of employees of the Group (FTE) as of December

31, 2002 and 2003, was 1,389 and 1,207, respectively.
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b
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Raytel,

which were purchased as of the purchase date, was: 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,471

Trade receivables 24,767

Other accounts receivable 448

Prepaid expenses and other 1,299

Fixed assets, net 9,002

Investment in associates 56

Intangible assets 411

Goodwill upon acquisition 37,329

78,783

Trade payables (5,356)

Other accounts payable (11,794)

Long-term loans (25,457)

Minority interest (1,076)

Fair value of net assets 35,100

Consideration:

Cost of shares, at fair value 31,416

Costs associated with the acquisition 3,684

35,100

The cash outflow on acquisition is as follows:

Cash of Raytel 5,471

Cash paid up to December 31, 2002 (30,488)

Net cash outflow (25,017)

Raytel’s results of operations were fully consolidated since April

1, 2002, and have contributed USD 763 loss to the net income of

the Group in 2002.

note 4  Short-term deposits
Interest rate December 31
for 2003 % 2002 2003

Linked to the US dollar 2.5 15,210 –

NIS – unlinked 7.5 – 1,813

NIS – linked to Israel’s CPI 5.8 – 1,083

15,210 2,896

q pensions and saving plans:
Raytel has a defined contribution pension plan, which covers

substantially all employees. Contributions to the plan are based

upon a percentage of an employee’s covered compensation, as

defined. Expense under the plan was USD 376 and USD 400 for

the period from April 1, 2002, to December 31, 2002 and 2003,

respectively. 

Raytel also has a tax-qualified “401(k) plan” which covers sub-

stantially all employees. Eligible employees may make salary de-

ferral (before tax) contributions up to a specified maximum.

Raytel makes a matching contribution of 25% of the amount de-

ferred. Expense under the plan was USD 134 and USD 152 for

the period from April 1, 2002, to December 31, 2002, and for

2003, respectively.

r earnings (loss) per share:
The Group calculates both basic and diluted earnings (loss) per

share in accordance with IAS 33. Under IAS 33, basic earnings

(loss) per share is computed using the weighted average num-

ber of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings

(loss) per share is computed using the weighted average num-

ber of shares outstanding during the period plus the dilutive ef-

fect of stock options outstanding during the period.

s reclassification:
The reclassification is due to adjustment between cost and ac-

cumulated depreciation. There is no effect on net fixed assets

value.

note 3  Acquisition of Raytel Medical 
Corporation (“Raytel”)

a
SHL TeleMedicine North America, Inc. (“NA”), a wholly owned

subsidiary of SHL TeleMedicine International (“STI”), purchased

in a tender offer all the issued and outstanding shares of Raytel at

total cost of USD 35,100. Following completion of the acquisition

of Raytel in June 2002, holders of about 13% of Raytel’s outstand-

ing shares (“petitioners”) initiated an appraisal rights process

(“claim”) under the applicable law. During the second quarter of

2003, Raytel and the petitioners reached a settlement, according

to which the claim was dismissed by the court with prejudice.

The total payment of USD 4,147 that has been effected to the pe-

titioners, was in accordance with the original merger price per

share plus an immaterial addition. To date, payment in the

amount of USD 536 has not yet been effected with regard to 2%

of Raytel’s outstanding shares.

For the adjustment of goodwill associated with the purchase, see

Note 13.

The cost of the Raytel acquisition was allocated to its assets and

liabilities based on their fair values.

Subsequent to the purchase of Raytel shares, NA merged with

Raytel. 
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note 9  Other accounts receivable
2002 2003

Government authorities 3,350 2,443

Employees 170 199

Others 788 195

4,308 2,837

note 10  Investment in associate

a
On January 2001, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,

STI (see Note 18b), entered into several agreements with Philips

Medical Systems Netherlands B.V., a subsidiary of Royal Philips

Electronics, a significant shareholder of the Company and its re-

lated companies (“Philips”). According to the agreement, STI,

together with Philips, formed a Dutch company, Philips Heart-

Care Telemedicine Services Europe (“JV”), which engaged, on

its own or through its consolidated companies, in the provision

of telemedicine services in various countries throughout Europe.

JV was established in May 2001.

JV provides remote monitoring services in cardiology for retail

subscribers and has established offices in Germany and Italy. JV

renders services to clients in Italy, Germany and Switzerland. 

STI holds 19.9% of JV’s shares and Philips holds 80.1%. 

STI invested in JV’s share capital USD 144 and, in addition, pro-

vided JV with a loan in an aggregate amount of USD 14,699.

The loan was linked to the Euro and was repayable no later than

December 21, 2010. 

b investment in JV is comprised as follows:
2002 2003

Investment in JV share capital 144 144

Accumulated losses (144) (144)

– –

Shareholders’ loan 12,607 14,699

Provision against shareholders’ loan* (10,607) (14,699)

2,000 –

Other associates 31 24

2,031 24

* Due to JV losses, the Company decided to provide an amount of USD 5.6
million, in 2003 (previous year – USD 7.3 million), against the loan that
was given to JV.

note 5  Marketable securities

Available-for-sale marketable securities:

2002 2003

Corporate debentures – 

linked to the US dollar – 4,404

Governmental debentures – 

In NIS – unlinked – 991

– 5,395

note 6  Trade receivables
2002 2003

In Israel 2,193 2,958

Abroad 21,456 20,248

23,649 23,206

After deduction of allowance 

for doubtful accounts 13,392 15,944

note 7  Postdated notes

The balance represents customers’ debts in respect of sale of 

devices in Israel. Customer debt in respect of sales of devices, in

excess of the payment made in cash at the date of delivery, is

paid in equal monthly payments over a maximal period of nine

years. The postdated notes are composed of notes by authoriza-

tion, notes receivable and postdated payments from credit card

companies. (See also Note 2f).

note 8  Prepaid expenses

Most of the prepaid expenses are related to services to be ren-

dered in subsequent periods. The realization of prepaid ex-

penses subsequent to the balance sheet date, is as follows:

2002 2003

First year prepaid expenses – short-term 3,664 4,944

Second year 1,940 2,260

Third year 1,990 2,314

Fourth year 1,820 2,373

Fifth year 1,828 2,384

Thereafter 4,420 5,184

Prepaid expenses – long-term 11,998 14,515

15,662 19,459
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c
On December 23, 2003, STI, and Philips Medical Systems Inter-

national B.V. (“PMSI”), a subsidiary of Koninklijke Philips Elec-

tronics B.V., signed a final agreement pursuant to which STI

will assume full ownership and control of JV. 

On January 20, 2004 (“the closing date”), an extraordinary

shareholders meeting of the Company approved the transac-

tions contemplated in the agreement.

At the closing, STI purchased from PMSI the entire issued

shares of JV held by PMSI for EUR 1 and assumed full responsi-

bility for the operation, management and funding of JV. At the

closing, PMSI made a cash contribution to JV, in amount of

Euro 8,750. As of December 1, 2003, (“the effective date”), PMSI

retained certain liabilities of JV, and STI guaranteed leasing 

payments of certain JV subsidiaries to Philips Leasing Services.

During an agreed interim period as of, the effective date, PMSI

will continue to render certain transition period services to JV

and during such period JV and its subsidiaries will cease using

the “Philips” brand name.

STI purchased from PMSI the full balance of PMSI’s outstand-

ing loans to JV at that time, in consideration for EUR 1 and a 

future revenue participating right. This right entitles PMSI to

receive 3.5% of the annual revenues of JV, during the years 2005

– 2010, from the services currently rendered by JV and its sub-

sidiaries in Germany, Italy and Switzerland and a percentage

(regressive annual percent during the years 2004 – 2006) from

the net proceeds if actually received by STI in the event of a sale

or divestment of JV or any of its subsidiaries.

note 11  Long-term deposits
2003

Structured deposit 1 2,000

Structured deposit 2 2,200

4,200

1 The deposit is linked to the US dollar and bears interest of 11% less double the 12-month LIBOR rate. The interest will be paid every six months.
The maturity date will be at the earlier of the events: receipt of 12% of the deposit principal or in August 2013.

2 The deposit is linked to the US dollar and bears interest of 11% in the first year and from the second year to the maturity date 8% less double the 6-month
LIBOR rate. The interest will be paid every six months.
The maturity date will be at the earlier of the events: the receipt of 11.75% of the deposit principal or November 2013.

note 12  Fixed assets

cost:
Balance at January 1, 2003 * 5,034 6,033 990 1,072 3,829 550 17,508

Additions during the year 1,391 1,852 220 5 665 263 4,396

Additions due to acquisition 

of business activities (Note 1[b][2]) – 1,288 – – – – 1,288

Disposals during the year (3) (96) (21) (107) (625) – (852)

Reporting currency 

translation adjustments 240 226 59 83 64 55 727

Balance at December 31, 2003 6,662 9,303 1,248 1,053 3,933 868 23,067

accumulated depreciation:
Balance at January 1, 2003 * 2,351 2,411 253 339 651 62 6,067

Additions during the year 1,538 1,887 166 210 602 84 4,487

Disposals during the year (2) (49) (11) (51) (153) – (266)

Reporting currency 

translation adjustments 152 109 17 33 22 8 341

Balance at December 31, 2003 4,039 4,358 425 531 1,122 154 10,629

Depreciated cost at December 31, 20032,623 4,945 823 522 2,811 714 12,438

Depreciated cost at December 31, 2002 *2,683 3,622 737 733 3,178 488 11,441

As for charges, see Note 21.
* Reclassified.

TotalLeased devicesLeasehold 
improvements

Motor vehicles
and ambulances

Office furniture
and equipment

Medical 
equipment 

Computers and
communication

equipment
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TotalOthersNon-competition
agreement

note 13  Intangible assets, net

At January 1, 2003, net of accumulated amortization 3,246 47,077 633 371 51,327

Additions during the year 1,143 – – – 1,143

Additions for acquisition of business activities (see Note 1[b][2]) – 23 190 – 213

Additions due to final purchase price adjustments * – 4,437 – – 4,437

Amortization during the year (672) (2,772) (395) (201) (4,040)

Realized income tax benefits subsequent to Raytel acquisition – (2,773) – – (2,773)

Reporting currency translation adjustments 282 1,230 51 10 1,573

At December 31, 2003, net of accumulated amortization 3,999 47,222 479 180 51,880

At December 31, 2003:

Cost 5,847 57,429 1,232 439 64,947

Accumulated amortization (1,848) (10,207) (753) (259) (13,067)

Net carrying amount 3,999 47,222 479 180 51,880

* The Company has adjusted the amount of the goodwill associated with the purchase of Raytel due to updated information available to the Company at 
December 31, 2003. The additions to goodwill during 2003 are due to the final purchase price adjustments for the remaining payments due to outstanding
shareholders of Raytel (USD 385) and adjustment to the fair value of acquired accounts receivable for amounts determined to be uncollectible (USD 4,443)
offset by a reduction (USD 453) for the expected recovery of taxes paid prior to acquisition.

note 14  Bank credit and current maturities

Interest rate 2002 2003
for 2003 %

Credit from banks:

NIS – unlinked Prime * + 0.22 3,568 17,387

NIS – linked to the dollar Libor + 1.8 7,000 7,210

10,568 24,597

Current maturities of long-term loans (see Note 17) 36,991 22,268

47,559 46,865

As for charges, see Note 21.
* The prime rate as of December 31, 2003 – 6.3%.

note 15  Trade payables
2002 2003

Open accounts 6,209 7,476

Notes payable 166 113

6,375 7,589

GoodwillResearch and 
development costs
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note 16  Other accounts payable
2002 2003

Employees and payroll accruals 3,997 3,983

Accrued liabilities 7,952 6,927

Government authorities 847 1,801

Former Raytel shareholders (see Note 3) 4,282 536

Other 108 85

17,186 13,332

note 17  Long-term loans from banks, lease obligations and others

a composed as follows:
Interest rate 2002 2003

for 2003 %

Loans from banks:

NIS – unlinked Prime * +0.75 17,332 6,542

NIS – linked to Israel’s CPI 5.66 10,787 10,061

NIS – linked to the dollar Libor +1.35 13,943 14,643

NIS – linked to the Euro Libor +1.86 9,941 9,025

Dollar, net 1. Libor +0.74 5,000 3,598

57,003 43,869

Less – current maturities 21,672 9,510

35,331 34,359

Lease obligations:

Lease obligations of vehicles – NIS – linked to Israel’s CPI 7 192 119

Capital lease obligations and non-recourse notes 2. 5.5–13.5 1,784 1,030

1,976 1,149

Less – current maturities 1,011 821

965 328

Other long-term loans:

NIS – linked to Israel’s CPI 5.45 282 92

Revolving credit facility 3. US prime ** +1 12,308 9,937

US federal government 4. 7 8,000 6,000

20,590 16,029

Less – current maturities 14,308 11,937

6,282 4,092

42,578 38,779

* The prime rate as of December 31, 2003 – 6.3%.
**The US prime rate as of December 31, 2003 – 5%.

1. As security for long-term loans from banks of USD 24,000 re-

ceived in connection with the financing of the Raytel acquisi-

tion, the Company pledged to banks certain liquid assets, in-

cluding cash deposit of USD 20,402. In the balance sheet, this

deposit has been offset against the loan.

2. The capital lease obligations and non-recourse notes are due

in varying amounts, including interest at rates ranging from

5.5% to 13.5% through 2014.

3. Under the revolving credit facility, Raytel may borrow up to

USD 15,000 based on a prescribed formula, with interest at the

US prime rate plus 1% (5% as of December 31, 2003). The re-

volving credit facility was originally due on November 20, 2003.

During 2003, the maturity of the facility was extended to May

21, 2004.

4. The settlement amount due to the US Federal Government is

payable in annual installments of USD 2,000 including interest

at the rate of 7%, through June 30, 2006 (see Note 21[c][1]).
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b the long-term loans are repayable in the following years subsequent to the balance sheet date:
2002 2003

First year – current maturities 36,991 22,268

Second year 8,178 9,885

Third year 7,195 7,465

Fourth year 6,977 5,373

Fifth year 4,939 4,477

Thereafter 15,289 11,579

42,578 38,779

79,569 61,047

c
The Company is required to maintain certain financial covenants

and is currently in compliance with all such requirements.

note 18  Investments in consolidated companies

Country of Percentage in equity interest
incorporation 2002 2003

Shahal Haifa – Medical Services Ltd. (a) Israel 100 100

SHL TeleMedicine International Ltd. (b) Israel 100 100

Shahal-Rishon Le-Zion, Rehovot Medical Services Ltd. (c) Israel 100 100

Bikurofe Ltd. (d) Israel 100 100

SHL TeleMedicine B.V. (e) Netherlands 100 100

SHL TeleMedicine Global Trading Ltd. (f) Ireland 100 100

SHL TeleMedicine North America Inc. (g) USA 100 100

a Shahal Haifa – Medical Services Ltd.:
On December 31, 1996, the Company purchased all the shares in

Shahal Haifa – Medical Services in consideration of USD 700.

The Company recorded goodwill in the amount of USD 2,900

representing the excess of the aggregate acquisition cost over the

fair value of the identifiable net assets at date of acquisition.

b SHL TeleMedicine International Ltd. (“STI”):
During September 1997, the Company established STI. STI has the

rights to develop and market the “Shahal Method” outside of Israel. 

According to a preferred share purchase agreement dated Septem-

ber 9, 1997, Vertex I.I.F. Limited Partnership (“Vertex”) purchased

17.4% of STI share capital in consideration of USD 4,500. In an

agreement entered into in April 2000 and amended and signed on

August 30, 2000, between the Company, Vertex and STI, Vertex

agreed to exchange all of its shares in STI for 7.15 % of the shares of

the Company.

After the exchange, which was held on September 21, 2000, the

Company holds 100% of STI.

The Company recorded goodwill in the amount of USD 11,300 rep-

resenting the excess of the aggregate acquisition cost over the fair

value of the identifiable net assets at date of acquisition.

c Shahal-Rishon Le-Zion, Rehovot 
Medical Services Ltd.:
On January 1, 2000, the Company purchased all the shares of

Shahal-Rishon Le-Zion, Rehovot Medical Services Ltd., a related

company, in consideration of USD 105.

The Company recorded goodwill in the amount of USD 3,000

representing the excess of the aggregate acquisition cost over the

fair value of the identifiable net assets at date of acquisition.

d Bikurofe Ltd.:
On December 31, 2001, the Company purchased all the shares

of Bikurofe Ltd., Israeli medical call centers service provider, in

consideration of USD 7,800. This amount includes USD 1,000

for non-competition agreement.

The Company recorded goodwill in the amount of USD 5,900

representing the excess of the aggregate acquisition cost over the

fair value of the identifiable net assets at date of acquisition.

e SHL TeleMedicine B.V. (“BV”):
During May 2001, STI established BV, which holds 19.9% of the

shares of JV (see Note 10) and holds 100% of the shares of SHL

TeleMedicine Global Trading Ltd. (see f.).

d
As for charges, see Note 21.
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f SHL TeleMedicine Global Trading Ltd. (“GT”):
GT was incorporated on October 23, 2001. GT was established

in order to distribute innovative medical devices and to perform

research and development activities.

g SHL TeleMedicine North America Inc. (“NA” )
(see Note 3).

note 19  Taxes on income

a taxation under inflationary conditions:
According to the Income Tax (Inflationary Adjustments) Law,

1985 in Israel, the results for tax purposes are calculated in real

terms based on the changes in the Israeli CPI.

b
Non-Israeli consolidated companies are taxed according to the

applicable laws in their countries of residence.

c taxes on income included in the statements of operations:
2001 2002 2003

Current taxes 1,093 2,862 6,094

Deferred taxes 1,505 236 (5,217)

Taxes in respect of previous years – 132 145

2,598 3,230 1,022

d deferred taxes:
Composition and changes in deferred taxes, as presented in the

consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

In respect of balance sheet items
Fixed Employee Carryforward Doubtful Others Total

assets and other benefit tax losses accounts
assets liabilities

Balance at January 1, 2003 (603) 950 58 1,292 197 1,894

Amounts charged to statement of operations 225 251 1,255 1,194 2,292 5,217

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments (59) 73 48 – 53 115

Balance at December 31, 2003 (437) 1,274 1,361 2,486 2,542 7,226

The balance is presented as follows:

2002 2003

Among current assets 1,947 6,313

Among long-term assets 607 1,772

Among long-term liabilities (660) (859)

1,894 7,226
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e a reconciliation of theoretical tax expense assuming all income is taxed at 
the statutory rate applicable to the income of companies in Israel, and the actual 
tax expense is as follows:

2001 2002 2003

Income (loss) before taxes on income, as reported in 

the consolidated statements of operations 17,298 13,419 (1,659)

Statutory tax rate in Israel 36% 36% 36%

Theoretical tax expense 6,227 4,831 (597)

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:

Losses for which deferred taxes were not provided – 11 1,144

Tax adjustment in respect of inflation in Israel (370) (387) 469

Non-deductible expenses 425 1,121 1,169

Decrease in taxes resulting from realization of carryforward tax losses 

for which deferred taxes were not recorded in prior years (863) – (57)

Tax exempt income (2,821) (2,035) –

Different tax rates – 61 (390)

Taxes in respect of previous years – 132 145

Tax on minority interest in earnings of consolidated entities – (513) (689)

Other – 9 (172)

2,598 3,230 1,022

f carryforward losses for tax purposes:
The consolidated carryforward losses for tax purposes for the

year ended December 31, 2003, amount to USD 6,622 in Israel

and USD 1,334 in the USA. 

An asset in respect of deferred taxes in Raytel, amounting to

USD 6,014 and carryforward losses for tax purposes in consoli-

dated companies amounting to USD 3,211, were not included in

the balance sheet as the time of its realization in the foreseeable

future is uncertain.

note 20  Transactions with related parties

a transactions with related parties:
2001 2002 2003

Revenues:

Sales and services to JV 6,287 3,169 62

Interest and linkage differentials from JV 447 – –

6,734 3,169 62

Expenses:

Salaries to officers and directors 1,607 1,742 1,146

Rental expenses to shareholders 131 124 129

Interest to shareholder 20 – –

1,758 1,866 1,275
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b
On September 21, 2003 (the “Effective Date”), the Company

signed a management services agreement (the “agreement”)

with Alroy Yoram Consulting and Management Ltd. (the “Ser-

vice Provider”) – a wholly owned company by Mr. Yoram Alroy,

the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the President of the

company.

According to the agreement, Mr. Yoram Alroy, through the Ser-

vice Provider, will continue to provide management services to

the Company in a level equal to 2/3 of full time position. The con-

sideration for the management services was reduced accord-

ingly.

The Service Provider, together with Mr. Yariv Alroy and Mr. Erez

Alroy shall be entitled to an aggregate annual bonus, equal to 3%

of the Company’s profits (as defined in the agreement), provided

however, that the Annual Bonus shall not exceed USD 1,000 per

year.

The agreement commenced on the Effective Date and shall con-

tinue for a period of 36 months (the “Initial Term”). The term

shall automatically be renewed for consecutive 24-month peri-

ods (the “Extended Term[s]”) unless an advance written notice,

in accordance with the requirements of the agreement, submit-

ted by either, the Company or the Service Provider.

c
On October 31, 2003, the Company approved the grant of op-

tions to purchase 32,560 Ordinary shares of the Company under

the 2003 share option plan (see Note 22c) to Mr. Yoram Alroy,

the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the President of the

company.

d
As for the purchase agreement in respect of JV’s shares, see

Note 10. 

note 21  Charges, guarantees and 
contingent liabilities

a charges:
As collateral for the Company and its consolidated companies’

liabilities, fixed charges have been placed on motor vehicles and

insurance rights and fixed and specific charges have been placed

on specific notes collectible, cash deposits and other assets of

the Group.

b lease commitments:
The facilities of the Company and its consolidated companies

are rented under operating leases for periods ending in 2009.

Future minimum lease commitments under operating leases

for the years ended December 31, are as follows:

Year

2004 5,130

2005 4,367

2006 3,762

2007 2,154

Thereafter 4,150

19,563

c contingent liabilities:
1. Raytel and a consolidated company of Raytel were the subject

of a US Government investigation that began in June 2000. In

June 2001, Raytel reached an agreement with the Government to

resolve the issues that were the subject of the investigation. In ad-

dition, in September 2001, Raytel entered into a settlement

agreement with the Government to resolve related civil claims

under which Raytel agreed to pay USD 11,500 over a period of

five years. Through December 31, 2003, USD 5,500 has been

paid. The settlement agreement did not release Raytel or the con-

solidated company from any future claims arising out of their

other business operations, including the trans-telephonic pace-

maker operations conducted at its New Jersey facility that had 

not complied in all respects with certain technical requirements

relating to the duration of testing sessions. These financial state-

ments include an accrual, which the Group management be-

lieves is adequate for all anticipated claims and costs in connec-

tion with this matter.

2. At December 31, 2002, former members of Raytel’s Board of

Directors and other individuals were named as defendants in a

purported class action lawsuit opposing the merger transaction

between Raytel and NA. The plaintiff expanded this lawsuit to

include additional defendants, including some of the Com-

pany’s nominated Raytel Board members. The plaintiff gener-

ally alleged that the individual defendants breached their fidu-

ciary duties of loyalty, good faith, and independence in connec-

tion with the proposed merger transaction by engaging in self-

dealing. During 2003, the case was dismissed with prejudice.

3. The Company and its subsidiaries are, from time to time, a

party to various other claims and disputes associated with vari-

ous aspects of its ongoing business operations. In manage-

ment’s opinion, none of these other claims or disputes are ex-

pected, either individually or in the aggregate, to have a material

adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of 

operations or cash flows.
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note 22  Shareholders’ equity

a the share capital is composed as follows: 
Authorized Issued and outstanding

December 31, 2002 and 2003
Number of shares

Ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value each 14,000,000 10,663,373

Each of the Company’s shares confers upon their holders the

following rights:

1. Equal rights to participate in the distribution of a dividend,

whether a cash dividend or bonus shares, in the distribution of

assets or any other distribution according to ratio of the paid-in

capital or credit as paid in over the nominal value of the share.

2. Equal rights to participate and vote in the Company’s general

meetings.

3. Equal rights regarding capital and participation in the distri-

bution of the Company’s surplus assets in a liquidation event,

according to the ratio of the amounts of paid-in capital or credit

as paid in over their nominal value.

b treasury shares:
During 2002 and 2003, the Company purchased 29,347 and

53,730 shares of its own shares, respectively. On July 9, 2003,

the Board of Directors of the Company resolved to extend the pe-

riod for its repurchase of its own shares until March 31, 2004,

for up to an aggregate amount of USD 2,000 (including all

shares purchased as of that date). To date, the Company pur-

chased its own shares, in the amount of USD 463.

Shares held by the Company are treated and presented in the

balance sheet as deduction from equity.

c share option plan:
In September 2000, the Company adopted an Option plan for

the issuance of Options to purchase Ordinary shares (“Options”)

to its employees, directors, consultants and contractors that was

amended in November 2000 (“the 2000 Share Option Plan”).

In September 2000, the Company approved a maximum pool of

up to 856,627 Ordinary shares reserved for issuance upon exer-

cise of Options that may be granted pursuant to the 2000 Share

Option Plan (“the Option Pool”).

In November 2000, after the completion of the Public Offering,

the Company granted to employees and consultants of the

Group 496,202 Options to purchase 496,202 Ordinary shares

at the price of CHF 34.00 (the public offering price) under the

terms of the 2000 Share Option Plan. During 2001, a further

23,340 Options to purchase 23,340 Ordinary shares were

granted under the terms of the 2000 Share Option Plan and at

the same exercise price. The aforesaid Options are subject to a

four-year vesting schedule which provides for 50% of the Op-

tions to be vested on the second anniversary of the date of the

grant and an additional 25% to be vested on each of the third

and fourth anniversaries of the date of the grant.

During 2001, the Company granted to employees and consul-

tants of the Group an additional 97,975 Options to purchase

97,975 Ordinary shares at the price of CHF 22.65 (the market

price at the date of the approval) under the terms of the 2000

Share Option Plan. The aforesaid Options are subject to a three-

year vesting schedule which provides for one-third of the Op-

tions to be vested on each of the first, second and third anniver-

saries of the date of the grant.

In July 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 International

Share Option Plan (“the 2002 International Share Option Plan”)

for the issuance of Options to non-Israeli employees, directors,

officers and consultants of the Company and any of its sub-

sidiaries, and determined that the Option Pool reserved for pur-

poses of the 2000 Share Option Plan shall further serve for pur-

poses of the 2002 International Share Option Plan.  

In October 2003, due to the tax reform in Israel that changed the

tax regime with respect to Options granted to employees and di-

rectors, the Company adopted the 2003 Share Option Plan (“the

2003 Share Option Plan”) for the issuance of Options to em-

ployees, directors, consultants and contractors of the Company

and any of its subsidiaries, and determined that the Option Pool

reserved for purposes of the 2000 Share Option Plan and the

2002 International Share Option Plan shall further serve for

purposes of the 2003 Share Option Plan (the 2000 Share Op-

tion Plan, the 2002 International Share Option Plan and the

2003 Share Option Plan, together – the “Option Plans”).

In October 2003, the Company granted to employees and con-

sultants of the Group and an executive member of the Board of

Directors of the Company 113,560 Options to purchase 113,560

Ordinary shares under the terms of the 2003 Share Option Plan.

One-third of such Options have an exercise price of CHF 6.89;

one-third of such Options have an exercise price of CHF 10.89,

provided, however, that if such Options are exercised after Octo-

ber 30, 2005, the exercise price shall be CHF 6.89; and one-

third of such Options have an exercise price of CHF 10.89, pro-

vided, however, that if such Options are exercised after October

30, 2006, the exercise price shall be CHF 6.89. All such Op-

tions shall fully vest on October 30, 2004.

In December 2003, the Company effectuated an Options ex-

change program (“the Options Exchange Program”) aimed at re-

ducing the exercise price of Options granted under the terms of

the 2000 Share Option Plan to reflect the market price of Ordi-

nary shares of the Company. The Options Exchange Program of-

fered holders of such Options to cancel all Options previously

granted to them in exchange for new Options to be granted un-

der the terms of the 2003 Share Option Plan at an exchange ra-

tio of 1:0.8 (i.e. 0.8 new Options for every Option cancelled) and

at an exercise price equal to the market price on the date of ex-

change (which was determined as December 17, 2003). As a re-
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sult of the Options Exchange Plan, 485,627 Options to purchase

485,627 Ordinary shares at the price of CHF 34.00 or CHF

22.65 (as applicable), which were previously granted under the

terms of the 2000 Share Option Plan, were cancelled, and in ex-

change, 388,501 Options to purchase 388,501 Ordinary shares at

the price of CHF 5.9 (the market price on the date of exchange)

were granted under the terms of the 2003 Share Option Plan to

employees, consultants and executive members of the Board of

Directors of the Company that participated in the Options Ex-

change Program. The Options granted under the Options Ex-

change Program will vest in accordance with the original vesting

schedule under which the Options they replaced were to vest,

provided, however, that all such Options not yet vested on De-

cember 31, 2004, will fully vest on such date.   

Generally, all Options granted under the Option Plans are valid

for a term of 10 years from the date of their grant, subject to

early termination due to cessation of employment or service of

the Option holder. 

Information with respect to the number of Options granted un-

der the ESOP presented according to exercise price is as follows: 

Total Total 
outstanding at the outstanding at  

Exercise Price in CHF beginning of year Granted Cancelled*) the end of year
No. of Options    

34.00 417,112 – 411,097 **) 6,015

22.65 97,975 – 97,975 **) –

5.9 – 388,501 729 387,772

6.89 – 113,560 – 113,560

515,087 502,061 509,801 507,347

*) Options that are cancelled are returned to the pool and may be re-granted in the future.
**) Including in Options Exchange.
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note 23  Supplementary information to statements of operations

a revenues from sales of devices and services: 2001 2002 2003

Sale of services in Israel 11,115 19,553 23,367

Sale of devices in Israel 12,767 12,840 4,242

Sale of services abroad 5,721 * 54,389 * 71,175 *

Sale of devices abroad 1,012 ** 3,022 ** –

30,615 89,804 98,784

* Includes royalties and service fees from JV, in the amount of USD 5,700, USD 169 and USD 62 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, 
respectively (see Note 10a).

** Includes sale of devices to JV, in the amount of USD 600 and USD 3,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

b cost of sales of devices and services:
Salaries and related benefits 3,906 18,666 22,619

Cost of devices sold 4,410 4,442 2,308

Payment to service providers – 5,431 8,325

Depreciation 276 2,440 2,642

Maintenance of ambulances and motor vehicles 363 353 443

Rental fees and maintenance 482 4,405 5,901

Materials and components 163 3,258 3,790

Communications, postage and freight 110 2,199 2,723

Others 926 2,859 3,374

10,636 44,053 52,125

c research and development costs, net:
Salaries and related benefits 592 651 802

Amortization of research and development costs 474 415 672

Medical consulting 109 106 107

Others 431 479 234

1,606 1,651 1,815

Less – capitalization of development costs (1,132) (1,236) (1,143)

474 415 672

d selling and marketing expenses:
Salaries and related benefits 1,833 3,345 5,115

Advertising 897 936 1,468

Depreciation 141 157 227

Rental fees and maintenance 204 282 311

Maintenance of motor vehicles 392 731 953

Others 639 1,554 2,121

4,106 7,005 10,195
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note 24  Earnings (loss) per share

a basic earnings per share: 2001 2002 2003

Net income (loss) 12,056 1,411 (10,195)

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 10,663,373 10,634,026 10,580,296

Per share amount 1.13 0.13 (0.96)

b diluted earnings per share:
Net income (loss) 12,056 1,411 (10,195)

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 10,663,373 10,634,026 10,580,296

Share Option 152 – 1,394

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 10,663,525 10,634,026 10,581,690

Per share amount 1.13 0.13 (0.96)

e general and administrative expenses:
Salaries and related benefits 2,507 11,232 12,977

Rental fees, maintenance and office expenses 519 5,049 6,581

Professional fees 740 2,491 2,027

Depreciation and amortization 827 3,397 4,807

Doubtful accounts and bad debts 901 3,387 4,533

Others 873 1,120 1,797

6,367 26,676 32,722

f other expenses, net:
Capital loss from sale of fixed assets 124 19 11

Expenses in respect of prior years 26 380 70

Other – (382) (57)

150 17 24
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b business segments:
The following tables present revenue and profit information,

and certain asset and liability information regarding business

segments.
Telemedicine services Medical services

2001 2002 2003 2001 2002 2003

Segment revenues:

Sales to external customers 30,615 52,409 51,420 – 37,395 47,364

Operating income before unallocated expenses 9,032 9,442 (472) – 4,126 5,513

Share in losses and provision 

against shareholders’ loan to JV (2,644) (7,353) (5,601) – – –

Segment result 6,388 2,089 (6,073) – 4,126 5,513

Unallocated expenses

Operating income *

Financial income (expenses)

Other expenses, net

Taxes on income

Minority interest

Net income for the year

Other business information:

Segment assets 126,180 143,073 144,915 8,815 58,370 41,434

Other assets

Segment liabilities (6,549) (14,074) (13,742) (1,911) (10,961) (8,625)

Other liabilities

Capital expenditure 3,453 3,534 6,217 – 1,064 823

Depreciation and amortization 2,848 3,052 4,588 – 3,543 3,939

* Includes share in losses and provision against shareholders’ loan to JV. 

note 25  Segments information

a
1. The Company and its consolidated companies operate in two

business segments:

Telemedicine services – providing monitoring services utilizing

telephonic and Internet communication technology and selling

related instruments through direct sales or by franchises.

Medical services – operating a network of imaging centers and

cardiac facilities that provide diagnostic, therapeutic and patient

management services primarily associated with cardiovascular

disease. The segment also operates medical call center services

which provide 24-hours doctor “house-call” services and med-

ical consultation over the phone.

2. The Company and its consolidated companies also operate in

several geographic segments. The segments are determined

based on the location of the customers.

3. The assets of the segments include all of the operational as-

sets, which are used by the segments and are comprised primar-

ily of cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits, trade re-

ceivables, other accounts receivable, postdated notes, prepaid ex-

penses, inventory, fixed assets and intangible assets.

The liabilities of the segments primarily include trade payables,

other accounts payable and accrued severance pay.

The assets and the liabilities of the segments do not include de-

ferred taxes.
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Consolidated
2001 2002 2003

30,615 89,804 98,784

9,032 13,568 5,041

(2,644) (7,353) (5,601)

6,388 6,215 (560)

– (1,913) (1,971)

6,388 4,302 (2,531)

8,416 1,781 (4,705)

(150) (17) (24)

(2,598) (3,230) (1,022)

– (1,425) (1,913)

12,056 1,411 (10,195)

134,995 201,443 186,349

1,236 6,449 10,078

136,231 207,892 196,427

(8,460) (25,035) (22,367)

(32,698) (92,398) (87,930)

(41,158) (117,433) (110,297)

3,453 4,598 7,040

2,848 6,595 8,527
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c geographic segments:
1. The following is segment revenue from external customers by

geographical area, based on the geographical location of the cus-

tomers:

2001 2002 2003

Israel 23,882 32,393 27,609

Europe 6,733 3,286 62

USA – 54,125 71,113

30,615 89,804 98,784

2. The following is the total carrying amount of segment assets

by geographical location of assets:

2002 2003

Israel 129,740 123,396

Europe 2,427 914

USA 73,171 64,032

205,338 188,342

3. The following is the total cost incurred during the year, to ac-

quire segment assets that are expected to be used during more

than one year (fixed assets and intangible assets) by geographi-

cal location of assets:

2001 2002 2003

Israel 3,453 2,801 3,411

Europe – 123 648

USA – 1,674 2,981

3,453 4,598 7,040



Financial Statements

63

note 26  Linkage terms of monetary balances 

Linkage terms of monetary balances in the consolidated balance

sheet of the Group are as follows:
In or linked to: In or linked to: Unlinked Total

foreign currency Israeli CPI
December 31, 2002 (mainly US dollars)

assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 36,129 – 480 36,609

Short-term deposits 15,210 – – 15,210

Trade receivables 21,456 200 1,993 23,649

Postdated notes – 39,016 – 39,016

Other accounts receivable 3,765 271 272 4,308

Shareholders’ loan to associate 2,000 – – 2,000

78,560 39,487 2,745 120,792

liabilities:
Credit from banks and others 7,000 – 3,568 10,568

Trade payables 5,418 – 957 6,375

Other accounts payable 11,606 – 5,580 17,186

Long-term loans and leases from banks 

and others (including current maturities) 50,976 11,261 17,332 79,569

Accrued severance pay – – 1,474 1,474

75,000 11,261 28,911 115,172

December 31, 2003

assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 13,810 – 3,997 17,807

Short-term deposits – 1,083 1,813 2,896

Marketable securities 4,404 – 991 5,395

Trade receivables 20,248 82 2,876 23,206

Postdated notes – 42,008 – 42,008

Other accounts receivable 1,975 841 21 2,837

Long-term deposits 4,200 – – 4,200

44,637 44,014 9,698 98,349

liabilities:
Credit from banks and others 7,210 – 17,387 24,597

Trade payables 6,697 – 892 7,589

Other accounts payable 6,825 – 6,507 13,332

Long-term loans and leases from banks 

and others (including current maturities) 44,233 10,272 6,542 61,047

Accrued severance pay – – 1,446 1,446

64,965 10,272 32,774 108,011
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note 27  Subsequent events

1. On January 20, 2004, the closing of the purchase agreement

with PMSI was effected, in which STI acquired the shares of JV

held by PMSI and assumed full responsibility for the JV (see

Note 10c).

The financial statements of the JV are not consolidated in these

financial statements as of December 31, 2003. STI will account

for the acquisition under the purchase method.

2. On January 28, 2004, NA acquired Cardiac Evaluation Center

Inc. and Cardiac Diagnostic Centers Inc. (together “CEC”).

CEC is active in the transtelephonic cardiac monitoring busi-

ness and has a strong regional presence in the Midwest US,

based in Milwaukee, Wisconsin and Cleveland Ohio. CEC ser-

vices some 35,000 patients annually with revenues amounting

to some USD 5,500. CEC currently has some 60 employees.

The overall acquisition price for CEC’s business including 

special proprietary software and future consulting services of

CEC’s President and sole shareholder will amount to some 

USD 6,400. NA will account for the acquisition under the 

purchase method.

3. On January 20, 2004, Bikurofe Ltd., a wholly-owned sub-

sidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with a clinic

for the acquisition of their business activities.

The consideration for the transaction amounted USD 1,390,

USD 695 to be paid at the closing date, no later than February

19, 2004, and USD 695 to be paid in 36 equal monthly install-

ments linked to Israel’s CPI.


